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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BASSEM YOUSSEF,
P laintiff,

V- Civil Action No. 11-1362 (CKK)

LORETTA E. LYNCH., United States
Attorney General,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(November 132015)

Plaintiff Bassem YoussefRlaintiff” or “Youssef”), a formeremployee of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (“the FBI"), brings this action against the UiSiiadles Attorney General
(“Defendant’) under Title VIl of the Civili Rights Act of 1964 (“Title V7). On July 25, 2011,
Youssef, an Egyptiahorn American citizenfiled suit, assertingwo claims—one sounding in
discrimination and the second sounding in retaliatieach chalenging his neselectionfor an
Assistant Section Chiefoosition in the FBI's Counterterrorism Division Communications
Exploitation Section. On March 1, 2013, Defendant filed a [41] Motion for Suynthadgment.
On January 28, 2014, the Court granted Defensldrtion for Summary Judgment as to
Plaintiff's national origin discrimination claimbut denied Defendant's Motion as to Plaintiff’s
retaliation claim. Presently before the Cousrethe parties’objectionsin their Joint Pretal
StatementPlaintiff's Motion in Limine, andDefendaris Motion in Limine On June 30, 2015 and
August 14, 2015, the Court hetdetrial conferenceis this matter and made oral findings, which
the Court INCORPORATES hereinAfter each pretrial conference, the Court issued Orders

indicating the Court’s findings on variousissues raised in the parties’ motions limine and
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ordering the parties to submit supplemerieéfing oncertainissues that remained unresolved
SeeOrder dateduly 2, 2015 ECF No. [86]andOrder dateddugust 14, 2015, ECF N{92]. The
Court has scheduledtlaird pretrial conference for November ZR15. A trial date has nbeen
set.

The parties haveompletedall briefing relating to their notions in limine, and tke mations
areripe for adjudication. Upon consideration of the pleggfl the relevant legal authorities, and
the recordas a whole the Court shall GRANTIN-PART, DENY-IN-PART Defendant’'s [79]
Motion in Limineand GRANTFIN-PART,DENY-IN-PARTPlaintiff’'s [80] Motion in Limine, and

GRANT-IN-PART, DENY-IN-PART the objection made by the parties to their Joint Pretrial

LWhile the Court renders its decision on the record alsatewits consideration has focused on
the following documents: Plaintiff's Report Regarding Expert and Lay Opinictiniay
(“PL’s Witness Report”), ECF No. [74the parties’ Joint Pretrial Statement, ECF No. [77];
Plaintiff's Expert Report, ECF No7f-1]; Defendant’'s Deposition Designations (“Def.’s Dep.
Designations”), ECF No. [#Z]; Plaintiff's Objections to Depositions Designations (“Pl.’s
Objections to Def’'s Dep. Designations”), ECF No.-B[7 Jury Instructions, ECF No. [#¥;
Plaintiff's Objections and ResponsesDefendant’Objections to Plaintiff’'s Pretrial Statement
(“Pl’s Objections and Responses”), ECF No-p[i7Defendant’s Objections tlaintiff's
Pretrial Statement (“Def.’s Objections”), ECF No.{6]7 Defendant’s Rgponses tdlaintiff's
Objections to DefendantBretrial Statement (“Def.’s Responses”), ECF No:-{}Defendant’s
Motion in Limine (“"Def’s. Mot.”), ECF No. [79]; Plaintiff's Opposition to DefendastMotion
in Limine (“Pl.’s Opp’'n”), ECF No. [82]; Defendant’'s Rgpto Plaintiff’'s Opposition to
Defendant’s Motionin Limine (“Def.’s Reply”), ECF No. [85]; Plaintiff's Motionin Limine
(“PL’s Mot.”), ECF No. [80]; Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiffidotion in Limine (“Def.’s
Opp’'n”), ECF No. [81]; Plaintiff's Replto Defendant’s Opposition to Plaintiff's Motiaim
Limine (“Pl.’s Reply”), ECF No. [83]; Plaintiff's Supplemental Pretrial &r{(“Pl.'s Supp.
Pretrial Brief”), ECF No. [88]; Defendant's Supplemental PretrialfBf©ef.’s Supp. Pretrial
Brief”), ECF No.[89]; Plaintiff's Second Supplemental Pretrial Brief ("Pl’s 2nd Suppetriat
Brief”), ECF No. [90]; Defendant’s Second Supplemental Pretriaf Biizef.’s 2nd Supp.
Pretrial Brief”), ECF No. [91]; Defendant’'s Notice of Compliancehw@ourt Order (“Dé&’s
Notice of Compliance”), ECF No. [95]; Plaintiff's Response to Defensl&hipplemental
Disclosure (“Pl’s Response to Def.’s Supp. Disclosure”), ECF 96); Plaintiff's
Supplemental Memorandum (“PL’s Supp. Mem.”), ECF No. [97]; Defersl&esponséo
Court Order (“Def.’s Response to Court Order”), ECF No. [98]; Defergl&utpplemental
Memorandum (“Def.’s Sup. Mem.”), ECF No. [100]; and the parties’ eghibitd demonstrative
aids.
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Statement. As describedn the Cours opinion, the Court also leaves certain objectioms the
Joint Pretrial Statement for resolution at a later .tinhe resolving the parties’ mabns in limine
and the partiesobjections in ther Joint Pretrial Statement, the Court makes the following
findings:

A. Defendant’'s Motionin Limine

e Plaintiff may introduce testimony and evidence relating to Youssef's work
experience and qualifications beyond thernfation included in Youssef's FD
954 only where Plaintiff first establishes a factual predicatéo aghy the LCB
member in question would have known that specific information and should have,
or did in fact, consider that information in the selectiorcess.

e Curran may testify asto Youssef's known accomplishments only to the extent tha
the testimony provides information regarding the relative importance that the
counterterrorism community would have given to the accomplishments listed on
Youssef's FD954.

e Curran may testify as to Youssef's qualfications relative to those oeBamly
to the extent that these qualifications were listed on th@343 or were necessarily
known by the LCB members.

e Curran may not testify as to the baseline of Youssef's reputation and rap#net i
of Youssef’s norselection on his reputation within the FBI.

e Curran may not testify as to the impact of Youssef'sswaction on Youssef's
postretirement employment prospects.

e Curran may not testify as to the practices and procedures relating to LCBs,
including the frequency with which LCBs conducted interviews or the
appropriateness of outside conversations with candidates.

e Youssef may testify asto the qualifications in his#3 as compared with those
of Powers, to the eaht that no other witness testifies on behalf of Plaintiff
regarding this issue.

e Youssef may also testify on the matter of LCB procedures in place at theftime
Youssef's norselection.

o Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, Exhibit 15né Demonstrative
Aids No. 6.

e The Court shall imit testimony and evidence about Youssef's prior EE@iast
to a neutral statement that he was engaging in such activities atethefthis non
selection for the ASC posttion, and that the FBI is not permitted taeski@tory
action in response to those activities.

e Defendant may offer testimony by Zarone concerning the OIG Report only as it
relates to the narrow issue of Zaronkandwritten comment on Youssef's 2009

2 This list contains the key findings identified by the Court ia @pinion, and the Court does
not intendit to be arexhaustive list of all findings made by the Couirt.
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PAR. Plaintiff may impeach Zarone’s testimony, but may not introducéicaridli
testimony and evidence about the underlying IG investigation.

e Plaintiff may introduce a redacted version of thMother Jonesarticle, with all
parts redacted except for the title and the two references to Youssef'siulstaam
lawsuit.

e Plaintiff may introduce testimony about Youssef's EEO activity by-non
decisionmakers only to state that Plaintiff was involved in EEO gctid is
entitled to protections when he engages in such activity.

e Plaintiff may introduce testimony and evidence regarding the 2009 PAR and the
accompanying notes only to the narrow issue of retaliatory animus, and a jury
instruction limiting the use of the evidence would be appropriate.

B. Plaintiff's Maotion in Limine

e Defendant may introduce evidence at trial in support of its argument tlokertiae
of Youssef’s selection for the ASC position was not an adverse action.

C. Issues Raised Over the Course of finig

e Plaintiff may not introduce evidence that Fernandez, thevotimy chairperson of
the LCB, deliberately “stacked” the LCB with voting members whom Fernandez
knew were biased against Youssef.

e Plaintiff may not introduce evidence that LCB members should have relied on
Plaintiff's “totality of experiences” to prefer him over other candidatvho may
have had higher competency scores.

e The Court shall not strike thevidence set out in tHearlave declarations, and the
Court shall permit Parlave to testify at trial. However, Pfaimtiust have an
opportunity to depose Parlave on the issues addressed in her declarations.

The Courtmakesits findings based on the Court’s consideration of the record currently
before the CourtThe Court observes theariousaspects of thparties’ trial theories have evolved
since the parties filed theloint Pretrial Statement on March 11, 2015 and tetions in Limine
on March 19, 2015.The Court has providedoth partiesa number obpportunities to develop
their argumentshrough supplemental briefingnd pretrial hearings, andet Caurt expectshatthe
parties have &horough understanding die evidence in this caseThe Courttherefore wil be

hesitant to grant additional requebysthe parties tmtroduce at trial new testimony or evidence

not alreadycontemplated by the parti@stheir fiings to date The Court, nevertheless, is mindful
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that circumstancesat trial may open the door to the introduction of additional testimony and
evidence, and th€ourt shall reservdts right to reconsideits findings as the record develaps
. BACKGROUND

The factual allegations and legal claims atissue in the case are satlforith the
January 282014 Memorandum Opinion granting in pand denying in paDefendants
Motion for Summary JudgmentSeeYoussef v. Holded9 F. Supp. 3d 167, 1-7F (D.D.C. Jan.
28, 2014). In short Youssefis a former=Bl employee who applied, but was not selected, for the
postion of Assistant Section Chi€fASC”) in the FBI's Counteterrorism Division. See idat
171. The parties are proceeding to trial baussef'sclaim thathis nonselection was retaliatory
due to his participation in prior Equal Employment Opportunity (‘EEO”) agtiwithich
involved a separate lawis brought in this Court in 2003See generally Youssefv. F.B341 F.
Supp. 2d 121 (D.D.C. 2008)Youssef”).

Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Although neither the Federal Rules of Civii Procedure nor the Federal &tule&lence
expressly contemplatmotions in limine, the practiceof allowing such motions has developed
over time “pursuant to the district cdgrinherent authority to manage the course of trials.”
Luce v. United State469 U.S. 38, 41 n.@1984). Consistent with the historical origins of the
practice, motiongn limine are “designedo narrow the evidentiary issues for trial and to
eliminate unnecessary trial interruptionsBradley v. Pittsburgh Bd. of Edu®13 F.2d 1064,
1070 (3d Cir.1990). Broadly speaking, the Federal Rules of Evidence permit the admission of
“relevant evidence>that is, evidence that “has any tendency to make a fact [of consequence]
more or less probable than it would be without the evidence,”Redsliid. 40t—provided itis
not otherwise excluded by the Rules, the Constitution of the United Stat@sAot af
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Congress, FedR. Evid. 402, and its probative value is not “substdntiautweighed by a danger
of . . .unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading uthe pndue delay, wasting time, or
needlessly presenting cumulative evidenceéed.R. Evid. 403.

In deference to their familiarity with the details of the case and grexgterience in
evidentiary matters, trial judges are afforded broad discretion in negpdaidentiary rulings, a
discretion which extends to assessing the probative value of the proffered e\atehaeighing
anyfactors against admissibility Sprint/United Mgmt. Co. v. Mendelso®2 U.S. 379, 384
(2008). The trial judges discreibn extends not only to the substantive evidentiary ruling, but
also to the threshold question of whether a motiohmine presents an @entiary issue that is
appropriate for ruling in advance of trialnited States v. Valenci826 F.2d 169, 172 (2@ir.
1987); accord Rosemann v. Refdie, Inc.,377 F.3d 897, 902 (8th Ci2004); United States v.
Layton,720 F.2d 548, 553 (9th Cit983), cert. denied465 U.S. 10691984), and overruled on
other grounds by United States v. W.R. Gr&@6é,F.3d 499 (9th Ci2008). The trial judge has
the “discretion taule in limine or to awaitdevelopments at trial before ruling.Stephen A.
Saltzburget al., FEDERAL RULES OF EVIDENCE MANUA § 103.02 [12] (9th ed. 2006).
“[lln some instances it is best to defer rulings until trial, [whemjgiens can be better informed
by the context, foundation, and relevance of the contested evidence within thedrkrokthe
trial as a whole.Casares v. Berna¥90 F.Supp.2d 769, 775 (N.D. 2011) (citation omitted).

[1l. DISCUSSION

The Court shall first addre§efendant’'snotion and thereafter turn to Plaint#f’'motion.
Because of the number and subst@ variation of both partiesequests, the Court shall discuss
the factial background relevant to each separate request within the context ofyitss aofathat
request. Further, because of the significant overlap between certain mattexs iraihe parties’
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respective motions, the Court shall occasionally, in discussiegpartys motion, refer to
briefing submitted in corection with the opposing parsymotion.

The Court shall alsdiscussthe parties’objectionsin ther Joint Pretrial Statememthere
doing so would be relevant to the Court’s analysis of the pantietons.
A. DEFENDANT'SM OTION IN LIMINE

Defendant’s Motionin Limine requests that the Court grant the following reli¢t)
exclude testimony and evidence relating to Youssef's work experience and doalfickeyond
the information that Youssefdluded in his FEB54; (2) exclude testimony and evidence of any
alleged prior discriminatory or retaliatory acts, including the basithé&yYoussef tetaliation
claim; and (3) limit and segregate testimony and evidence relating tdetiedatlowngrade in
Plaintiff's 2009 Performance Appraisal Report (“PARThe Court shall address each request in
turn.

1. Testimony and Evidence Relating to Youssefs Work Experience nd
Qualifications beyond the Information Included in YoussefsForm FD-954

Defendant objects to Plaintiéf presentation destimony and evidence relating to his work
experience and qualfitans beyond the information included in Youssefsm FD-954 3
Specifically, Defendant requests that the Court (1) exclude the testimdbgwaird Curran; (2)
appropriately limit Plaintiff's testimony; and (3) exclude exhibits andatestrative aids rating
to Plaintiff's qualiications that exceed the contemf the FD954. Beforeaddressinghesethree
requests, the Court shall first considibe issuestemmingfrom Defendant’s broader request, that

the Court exclude testimony and evidence relatngoussef’'s work experience and qualfications

3 The form FD954 was a written application completed by applicants for the ASC position, |
which applicants described their qualffications for theitjpm with respect to specific identified
competencies.
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beyond the information that Youssef included in his342.
a) Plaintiff may introduce testimony and evidence relating to Yousefs work
experience and qualifications beyond the information included in Youss$e
FD-9540nly where Plaintiff first establishes afactual predicate as to why the
LCB member in question would have known that specific information and
should have considered, or did in fact consider, that information in the
selection process.

As a preiinary matter, there is no dispute that the Local Career Board'jlr€&ponsible
for selecting the new ASC considered information in Youssef'®5D The question, therefore,
is what evidence and testimony, if any, may be admitted relating to Yous®seksexperience
and gqualifications that go beyond the information that Youssef included in Fg54D

Defendant argues that applications for &&C position consistecntirely of FBI forms
FD-954, and that members of the LGiere not allowed to consider information beyond what was
included in the FEB54. SeeDef.Mot. at 5. Therefore, according to Defendant, the onkdence
relevant to the LCB’s evaluation of Youssef's experience and qualifisatiosa-vis the other
appicants are the FB®54s themselves.ld. Defendant believes thatdditional information
regarding Youssef's experience and qualficationsuld be “patently irrelevant and highly
prejudicial’ and that Plaintiff seeks to introduceast swathe(sic)’ of such evidenceas a means
to suggesthatYoussef was more qualified for the ASC postition than the agent ultimatelytest
Daniel Powers.Id.

Plaintiff maintains that the LCB, which consisted of three voting mesnBdipolito
Castro, Erkan Chase, and Arthur Zarerend one noivoting chairpersea-Armando
Fernandezin fact considexd information beyond what was before them when making a

determination to deny Plaintiff's applicationSeePl.’s Opp’'n at 1. Plaintiff argues that.CB

members may haweonsideed information outsidd®laintiff's FD-954 becaustheyhadpersonal



knowledge of Plaintiff, which they were allowed to consider when evaluating his applicatan.
at 3. Plaintiff, howevercites no evidenc¢éhat any LCB memberall of whom were deposeduy

Plaintiff—actually drew upon any specific personal knowledge of Plaimiteadconjecturing
thatthe LCB members’ personal knowledge of Plaintiff “naturally leads one tdiquéise extent
to which these Board members considered their own subjective personal knowledge ladhtifie
during their evaluation of his candidacy for promotiorid. at 4.

Upon considerationof these arguments, the Coissued afinding at the first pretrial
conference on June 30, 2015 that Plaintiff may introduce testimony and evideriog fela
Youssef'swork experience and qualifications beyond the information included in Yous&ef's F
954 only wherePlaintiff establishes a factual jplieate as to why the LCB member in question
would have knownhatspecific informaéion and should haveonsidered, or did in facbnsider
that information in the selection proces#/here Plaintiff is unable to establish such a factual
predicate, Plaintiff wil not be allowed to introduce testimony and evidezlaéng to Youssef’s
work experience and qualifications, because such evidence would not be relevansdaethe i
before the jury SeeFed. R. Evid. 40%. This finding setsout the scope of admissible eviden
and testimony concerning Youssef's work experience and qualifications beyond the fidarma
included in Youssef's FE954. The Court notes, however, thiate the Courissued thisfinding
atthe first pretrial conferenc®Jaintiff hasnot identified, tihough his supplemental briefsuch a
factual predicate with regard touch of the testimony and evidence that he seeks to intraziuce
this issue

b) Plaintiff may introduce testimony by Ed Curran on limited issues.

Defendant objects to Plaintiff's presentation of testimony by Edward Cuwham

4 The parties did not raise any objections to this finding afirdtepretrial conference.
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Plaintiff seeks to calbsalay opinion witness and as a qualified exgertestify as to (1the
importance ofYoussef'saccomplishmentsthat would have been known to reasonable persons
working in the counteterrorism field; (2) Youssefs qualifications relative to those Bfowers, the
applicant slectedor the ASC position;(3) Youssef’s reputation within the FBhd thedamages
caused tdhatreputation by his nesekction for the ASC position; J4he impactof Youssef's
nonselection on Youssef's pesttirement job prospects outsidd the FBI; and (bthe LCB
interview procedures in place at the FBicluding the frequency with which LCBs conducted
interviews or the appropriateness of outside conversatidths candidates SeePl.’s Witness
Report, ECF No. [74], at-4.

i.  Curran may testify as toYoussefs known accomplishments only to the
extent that the testimonyprovides information regarding the relative
importance that the counterterrorism community would have givento
the accomplishments listed on Yousse&fFD-954.

Plaintiff seeks taall Curranasa lay opinion withess and agjaalfied expert in the field
of counterterrorism to testifgn the issue of whether a reasonable pewsmking in the field of
counteterrorism would have been aware of the significance of the achieveRiaintif listed on
his FD-954. SeePl.’s Witness Report, ECF No. [74], ab4 Curran, now retiredyorked52 years
in the areas of counterinteligence and inteligence for variousastdtiederal agencigiscluding
the FBL Id. at Exhibit 1 Curran worked fothe FBI for38 yearsfrom 1962to 2000, and served
as Youssef's supervisdor a period of timebefore his retirement with the FBId. at 3. Curran
would testify that several of the achievements that Plaintiff listed on hi®%Dsuch asvinning
the Director of Central Inteligence Awarghould have been recognized as significant

accomplishmets by LCB members, who deny knowledgetraf accomplishments'significance.

Id. at 45.; Pl’s Opp’n at 67. Curranwould also tesfy that Plaintiff's explanatiorof the awards
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on his FD954 was reasonabie light of theirsignificance Pl.’s WithessReport, ECF No. [74],
at 45.

Defendant argues th@urran’s testimony amounts tov@ererestatement that Youssef was
“fully qualified” for the ASC position, afactthat Defendant conce@e.’s Mot. at7. Defendant
alsoargues that Curran’s knowledge is not relevant to any issue in thesaagegrobative of the
LCB’s evaluation of the ASC applications, and would confuse the juryuafadly prejudice
Defendant Id. Defendant further argues that Curran’s testimonyotadmissible because expert
opinions based on subjective beliefs fail to meet the reliability reaeme necessary for the
admission of expert testimonyld.

Plaintiff respondsthat he seeks to introduce Curran’s testimamyt for the purpose of
showing that Plaintiff was qualified for the ASC position, but ratherGuatan’s testimony is
pivotal in showing the existence of retaliatory animus on the LCB and for ilmpgaseveral of
Defendant’s key withesses who have claimed to be unaware of the importaneeraf sethe
accomplishments on Youssef's fI54. Pl.’s Opp’n at-B. According to Plaintiff, Curranwould
testify that it isnot credible for a manager at the FBI with any experience in the field of
counterterrorism @ deny knowledge of the significance of achievements, such as winning the
Director of Central Inteligence Awardd. at 7. Plaintiff further argues that assumihgt the
LCB members were not aware of the significance of these achiever@emtan’s tesmony
would demonstrate thdahe fact that all three members did not make any inquiry into the key facts
in Youssef's F3954 is evidence of pretextd.

Upon consideration of the partieargumentsthe Courtissued dinding at the first pretrial

conferencehatCurranmaytestify asto Youssef's knowraccomplishmentonly to the extent that
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that they werdésted on the FEB54°5 In particular,Plaintiff may useCurrans testimony to provide
additional informabn as to the importance tiese accomghmentsin the context that the
counterterrorism community would have consideredtimsportant. The Court further notes that
Defendanis correctin arguing that experts may not “opine on another witness’s dyedidee,

e.g., Engesserv. Dooleds7F.3d 731, 763 (@& Cir. 2006). Therefore Curran’s testimony shall

be limited to the topis described above concerning the relative importance that the
counterterrorism community would have given to the accomplishments listed oseYsusD

954. Finay, as noted by the Court in both pretrial conferentdes,ssue ofwhether Curran
gualifies as an expert in the field of counterterrorism requiresutesolat aDauberthearing.
Accordingly, he Court declines taule onCurran’s qualificationsas an gpertat this time.

ii. Curran may testify as to Youssefsqualifications relative to those of
Powersonly to the extentthat these qualifications were listed onthe FD
954s or were necessarily known by the LCB members.

Plaintiff seeks to call Curran as arpert in the field of counterterrorism to testify on the
issue of Plaintiff’'s qualifications relative to those of Powersgctiedidate eventually selected by
the LCB. SeePl.’s Opp'n at 9. In particular, Curran would testify that no reasonals®rmpearith
counterterrorism experience at the FBI could have compared Powe@84- Plaintiff's FD-

954 and concluded that Powers was a superior candididtePl.’s Witness Report, ECF No. [74],
at 56. According to Plaintiff, this information is highly retent for the purposes of suggesting
retaliatory animus-if the LCB members could not have justified Powers’ promotion in any way

based on his experience in the field of counterterrorism, this suggestheth&ason he was

promoted was because he was simply an alternative to Plai8&f€&Pl.’s Opp’n at 9.

5 At the first pretrial conference, Plaintiff indicated agreement thata@wvill testify to
Youssef's acomplishments only to the extent that they were listed on th838D
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Defendant argues th@urran, who left the FBI in 2000 and has never workedanFBI's
Counterterrorism Division, lacks the necessary expertise to tegifyt what attributes and
experience werénportant to the Countertemsm Division in 2009. SeeDef.’'s Mot. at 8.
Defendant notesthat Curran’s departure from the FBI predates the establishmierheo
Counterterrorism Divisiorand ofthe ASC position for which Plaintiff appliedd. Given Curan’s
lack of expertise in this area, Defendant argues, Curran’s opinion thateYawssmore qualified
than Powers would amount to nothing more than his own subjective bédefln response,
Plaintiff argues that Curran’s testimony would not be Basehis subjective opinion. Pl.’s Opp’'n
at 9. Rather, Curran woukéstify as an expert in the field of counterterrorism, dravwangis
professionakxperiencs, developed over 38 years at the FBI, then later & #eD’s Inteligence
Division. Id.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court finds that Curran stigyde
the issue of Plaintiff's qualfications relative to those of Poveeg to the extent that these
gualfications were on the FB54s or would have necessarily been known by the LCB ntsmbe
Curran’s testimony as indicated by Plaintiffshall not be based ddurran’ssubjective opinion,
but rather on his experiences in the field of counterterrorigra.previously stated the issue of
whether Curran qualfies as anpext in the field of counterterrorism requires resolution at a
Dauberthearing. Accordingly, the Court declines to rule on Curran’s qualificaticnsn &xpert
at this time.

iii.  Curran may not testify as tothe baseline of Youssef's reputation and to
the impact of Youssefs norselection on his re putation within the FBI

Plaintiff seeks tooffer lay opinion testimony by Curran as to the baseline of Youssef's

reputation, i.e., Youssef's reputation prior to his-seiection, and to the impact of Yousseftst
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selection on his reputation within the EFBISeePl’s Witness Report, ECF No. [74], at 6.
Specifically, Curran would provide lay opinion testimony as to Youssef's t@putas an
“excellent performer.®

The parties disagree as to what evidencelévaiat to establishing Youssef's reputational
baseline. Defendant contendshat the only pertinent baseline of reputation is at the time
immediately before the 2009 ngelection decisin SeeDef.’s Mot. at 8. Defendant argues that
Curran, who resignetfom the FBI in 2000 and has not worked witbussefsince 1996 has no
personal knowledge ofoussef'sreputation after 2000. Id. Defendantfurther argues that
Youssef'sreputation in the 1990samot reflect his reputation 12009 because of interveng
events after Curran’s departure, which according to Youssef's testimortys iprior trial,
negatively impacted his reputationld. Therefore,Defendant argueslaintiff's reputation as
known to Curran is not the relevant baseline reputation atissue, and Curstémigny should be
excluded as irrelevantld. In support of this argumenDefendant cites several D.C. Circuit cases,
which hold that reputation evidence must be based on observation of the reputai®cldbatin
time to the eventat issue, and may not be based in observations made in the distareast.
e.g, United States v. Whitmor859 F.3d 609, 617 (D.C. Cir. 2004).

In response, Plaintiff argues that the relevant reputation baseline shteidadi to the
1990sin order to provide the jury withhe full context of Plaintiff's work history. Pl’s Supp.

Pretrial Brief at 72 Plaintiff argues that such evidence would establish Plaintiff's chgdiand

6 Upon questioning by the Court at the second pretrial conference, Plaintfiecl#iat Curran

would testify as to Youssef's reputation as an “excellent performer.”

7 After the first pretrial conference, the Court ordered each partydiess in supplemental

pretrial briefs whether Youssef's experiences and reputation in the 19903$ &oulpart of

Youssef's “baseline reputation in this case, or whether only evidence afef@useputation in

2009, just prior to his neselection, should form his reputation ‘baseline.Otder dated July 2,
14



purpose in alleging retaliation, two prerequisites for eskaigs a baseline reputationld. In
support ofthis argument, Plaintiff cites several employmelgcrimination cases, wheosurts
admitted evidence of plaintiffs’ work historieso establish thatthere could have been
discriminatory animus behind thefdadants’ actions.See, e.gWatson vNationwidelns. Co,
823 F.2d 360 9th Cir. 1987). However, theasesited by Plaintiff do not discuss whether to
allow reputational evidencat trial, and are nastructive to the Court’'s analysi this case.

Upon review of these arguments, the Court finds that the relevant reputa@ineaaust
beclose in tine to the events at issue in 20@&d cannotlate back to the 1990sSee Whitmore
359 F.3d at 609Plaintiff’'s reputation in the 1990s does notam@tely reflecPlaintiff’'s reputation
in 2009 becausdis reputationchanged over that timePlaintiff’s own testimony inYoussef |
supports this conclusion. NMoussef,IPlaintiff testified that his reputation waured in 2005
when he was denied permission to attend inspecti@seDef.’s Supp. Pretrial BriefECF No.
[89], at5 (citing Tr. Of Jury Trial, Day 3, AM Session, 988 125:15). Furthermore, the parties
do not disputeYoussef’sreputation in 2009vhen he applied for the ASC position. Defendant
acknowledgeshat Youssemmet the eligiility requirements for the position, and timetwas “fully
gualfied” SeeDef.’s Mot. at 7.Therefore, the probative value of evidemstablishingYoussef’'s
reputationbaseline, no less baseline dating back to the 1990ané&rginal

Finally, Curran does not have personal knowledge of Youssef's reputation within the FBI
around the time of Youssef's nselection in 2009. Therefore, Curran is not an appropriate
witness to testify on this subject. At the second pretrial conferencéetCourtindicated a

wilingness to consider the admissibilityof testimony by another of Plaintiff's witnesses

2015, ECF No. [86], at 5.
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concerning the issue of Youssef's reputation and the damages caused tatatomnewithin the
FBI by his norselection for the ASC position. However, Plaintitiled to indicate in his
supplemental briefing dated September 21, 2015 that he hastl@atyevidence relating to
Youssef’s reputation within the FBEeePl.’s SuppMem., ECF No. [97].Specifically, Plaintiff’s
supplemental briefinglid not provide any information indicatingwhat the relevant community
for evaluating Youssef’s reputation is, what the quality of Youssef's tgoutarior to his non
selection was, ahwho will testify as to Youssef's reputatioras requiredby the Court's Order
dated August 14, 20155eeOrder, ECF No. [92]at 3. BecauséPlaintiff has not responded to the
Court’s inquiry above, Plaintiftannot, asome later datgroffer another witness on thssue not
identified at this time. However, the Court also observes that Plaintiff states in the JaittialPr
Statement that Plaintiff would provide testimony as to the damages tepuigation. SeeJoint
Pretrial Sta¢ment, ECF No. [77], at 18ee alsd’l.’s Withess Report, ECF No. [74], &.1. The
Courtis reluctant to preclude Plaintiff from testifying on this issue, ndtireg Defendant did not
raise any objections to Plaintiff's proffered testimony in thet Jeirtrial Statement, aritlat the
Court allowed similar testimonyconcerning reputational damadas Plaintiff in Youssef.l See
Pl’'s Witness Report, ECF No. [74], atl®; Def.’s Objections, ECF No. [#], at 46.
Accordingly, the Court finds that Youssef, in lieu of Curran, may provide lay opisistimony
as to the baseline of Youssef's reputation and to the impact of Youssef&elaotion on his
reputation within the FBI.However, the Court shall allowoussef's testimony oreputational
damags, only aftePlaintiff provides further information indicating the relevant community for
evaluating Youssef's reputatioms well as theualty of Youssef's reputatio prior to his non

selection
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iv. Curran may not testify as tothe impact of Youssefs norselection on
Youssefs posiretirement employmentprospects

Plaintiff also seeks taall Curranto testify about Youssef's posttirement reputational
damage due to his diminished postrement employment prospectSeePl’s Supp. Pretrial
Brief, ECF No. [88],at 108 Curranwould provide expert anday opinion testimony that Youssef,
having left the FBI as Unit Chief and having not been selected for the A$Gnposas unale
to secure certain positions and earn certain compensation in hiert@unorism career beyond
the FBI. Id. at 1611. Plaintiff $atesin his supplemental briefing after the first pretrial conference
that since his retirement from the FBI, he has pursued, without sucoasslting positions at
firms, including Booz Allen, who are lookingfor employees with countrrorism experienceld.
at 10. Plaintiff, however provided no further information regarding these consulting pasiton
any evidence whatsoever suggesting that the denial of the ASC position in 20086 [elmirgiff
to lose anyof thesegob opportunities following ik retirement in October 2014.h& Courtraised
these concernat the second pretrial conference and provided Plaintiff an opporttmity
supplement its arguments on this issugeeOrder dated August 14, 2015, ECF No. [92], at 3.
Specifically, the Court ordered Plaintiff to “indicate whether he hed to find postetirement
employment, what opportunities he has missed, what Curran wil testifgntb,the factual

predicate that would permit Curran to testify as an expert about Yousdededly diminished

8 After the first pretrial conference, the Court ordered that the paatibmit supplemental
briefing asto Curran’s proffered testimony about Youssef'snatsement employment
prospects.SeeOrder dated July 2, 2015, ECF No. [86], at 5. Specifically, the Court required
Plaintiff to indicate the factual predicate permitting Curran tafyess an expert about
Youssef's allegedly diminished peasttirement employment prospectsl. The Court also
ordered that Plaintiff indicate what fueuemployment Youssef is seeking that would make
Curran’s testimony salientld.
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postretirement employment prospectsPlaintiff failed entirely to adduce arguch evidencén
his supplemental brief fled on September 21, 20%8ePl.’s Supp. Mem., ECF No. [97].
Accordingly, the Court finds that Riéiff may not offer testimony by Curran, or by any
other witness, as to the impact of Youssef's-selction on Youssef's pesttirement job
prospects outside of the FBAfter several inquiries by the CouRaintiff's sole evidence of lost
job oppotunities remains a single, generalized reference to Plainfifisuit of a consulting
position at Booz Allen. Furthermore, whegien the opportunityby the CourtPlaintiff failed to
proffer any evidence suggesting that Plaintiff was not hired focdmsulting position at Booz
Allen following his retrement in 2@ because of his neselection of the ASC position in 2009.
The Court therefore agrees with Defendant that Plaintiff has provided nmasvitie support a
conclusion thatiny marginal value added by an ASC title would have qualfied Plaintifiolbar |
that were dierwise oubf-reach for him. Def.’s Supp. Pretrial Brief, ECF No. [89], at 7. As
Defendant notes, Plaintiff had a long career at the FBI, during which heordee ranks of
manayement and occupied an important-GS Unit Chief position at the end of his tenurel.
The record currently before the court provides no reassngdgestthat the denial of the ASC
position in 2009 would have caused Plaintiffiad@e anyjob opporturties following his retrement
in October 2014.Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff may not offer testimony by Curran,
or by any other witness, as to the impact of Youssef'sse@ttion on Youssef's pesttireme nt

job prospects outside of the FB

9The Court therefore finds it unnecessary to decide whether Chosarsses apgrsonal
knowledge regarding Plaintiff's pefBIl job searchor whether Curran possesshs televant
experience to opine on the subject of geBt job opportunities.
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v. Curran may not testify as tothe practices and procedures relating to
LCBs, including the frequency with which LCBs conducted interviews
or the appropriateness obutside conversationswith candidates.

Plaintiff also seeks to call Curran to testéyg an expert concerning the practices and
procedures relating to LCBSeePl.’s Withess Report, ECF No. [74], at 8pecifcaly, Curran
would testify as to the role of LCBs in the FBI promotional process, the rdleedChairman of
the LCB, and the procedures used by LCB$. This testimony wouldinclude discussion as to
the right and responsibility of LCB members to interview candidates in order tostamue their
gualfications, especially if they we not familar with significant achievements set forth in the
FD-954. 1d. Curran wouldalso render an opinion that the failure to interview Youssef, combined
with the fact that the Chairman of the LCB did talk with other applicamts inappropriate Id.
Curranwould also testify that LCB members should review the completeé934) and take into
consideration factors such gsars of experiencegnapplicants employmentin the section for
which the promotion would occuand other career milestones reflected in the9b®. Id.

As a preliminary matter, the Court observes that Plaintiff has not plutfoy evidence to
suggest that Curran, who left the FBI in 2000, was knowledgeable of the LCBddicid
procedures in place at the time of thiriRiff's non-selection in 2009 At the second pretrial
conference, the Court raised this conderRlaintiff, stating that iwasnot clear to the Court what
expert testimony Curramould be able to provide abbthe LCB interview procedure$SeeOrder
dated August 14, 2015, ECF No. 92, 4.3 After the second pretrial conference, the Court
provided Plaintiff an opportunity to proffer additional evidence through an additional ajund
supplement briefing. Seeid. In his supplemental brief fie in response to the Court's Order,
Plaintiff, however, failed to respond to the Court’'s conceegarding Curran’&ck of knowledge
of procedures in effect at the time of Plaintiff's rewlection SeePl.’s Supp. Mem., ECF No.
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[97]. Plaintiff also did not indicate whether he stil seeks to introdexgeert testimony from
Curran on the subject of LCB interview procedur8ge id.

Instead, Plaintiff argues that the Court should not considerinevidenceproffered by
Defendant in its supplementalidfing concerning the impact afertainpolicy changes 20040n
LCB interview procedures. See id.at 23. Specifically, Plaintiff contendsthat Defendant
inappropriately relies on a declaration of Valerie Parlave concerningnghet of the 2004 polic
changes on interview procedureSeePl.’s 2nd Supp. Pretrial Brief, ECF No. [90], a43Pl.’s
Supp. Mem., ECF No. [97pgt 23. The Court addresses, in great detail, Plaintiff's objections to
Parlave’s testimony and her declaration, including heladation concerning the impact of the
2004 policy changes ohCB interview procedures, later in this Opinion, in RAr€C.4. As stated
in Partll.C.4, the Court concludes that the Court may consider the Parlave declaration cogcernin
the 2004 changeglating to candidate interview procedures, but the Court shall allontifP lthe
opportunity to épose ParlaveSeePart I11.C.4

Defendant relies on the Parlave declarationsupport of its argumenthat the FBI
overhauled the career board proces®0i4, four years after Curran’s departure, and that Curran
has “no understanding of the restl process.” Def.’s Mot. atl9. The Parlave declaration
provides details of the 2004 chamgewhichincluded, inter alia, a requirement that applicants
provide ‘substantially more information” on the FIB»4 in use after 2004, which reduced the

likelihood that the LCB would conduct interviews of candidates. DetfippSPretrial Brief, ECF

10 At the first pretrial conference, Defendant explained that the LCB process was overnauled
2003; however Defendant was unable to make any representations as to whetioeetse
relating to candidate interviews changed in 2003. Accordingly, the Court ordefexdBet to
indicate in its supplemental pretrial brief whether the procedureactige relating to candidate
interviews changed in the period between Curran’s departure from the FBbasseY's non
selection. SeeOrder dated July 2, 2015, ECF No. [86], at 4.
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No. [89], at 34 and Exhibit 1, Declaration of Valerie Parlave (“Parlavel@ation”).

In responsePRlaintiff arguesthat Curran had substantial experience with career boards up
until his departure from the FBI in 2000, and that the 2004 changesly amounted to “minor
changes” that would not affect the probative value of Curran’s testimarig.Opp’'n at 89. The
Court does notfind this argument convincing. The changes to the career board process went
beyond “minor changes” to the system with which Curran was familiar i199@s. The 2004
policy changs directly impated the rights and responsibilities of LCB members to interview
candidates-a key procedure for which Plaintiff has proffered Curran’s expert testim@wgePl.’s
Witness Report, ECF No. [74], at As noted aboveR laintiff, despite repeated opportueitj has
not put forth any evidence to suggest that Curran was knowledgeable of thez@0gopblicies
and procedures relating to LCB#ccordingly, the Court finds thaurran may not testify as to
the practices and procedures relating to LCBs, including the frequency with wGiBls
conducted interviews or the appropriateness of outside conversations with eandidat

c) Plaintiff Youssef mayprovide testimonyon limited issues.

Defendantseeks to limit Yousse®s own testimony Specificaly, Defendant requests that
Youssef not be permitted to testfywhether as “background,” “reputation” evidence, or
otherwise—about his qualifications, experience, accomplishments, etc. exce txtent that

those points are specifically deived in his F2954. Def.’s Mot. at 101

11 The Court notes that Defendant does not dispute that Youssef may provide testimony
explaining the experiences specifically described in hiOsD SeeDef.’s Mot. at 10.
Defendant seeks to exclude Youssef's testimony that go beyond {884-ihcluding any
testimony comparing Youssef’'s qualffications with Powers’ qualifications
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i.  Youssefmay providee stimony comparing the qualifications in his FD-
954 with those of Powers to the extentthat no other witness testifies on
be half of Plaintiff regarding this issue

Youssefseeksto offer his ownlay opinion testimony comparingis qualfications with
those of Powers, ¢hcandidate selected for the APGsition. SeePl.’s Supp. Preial Brief, ECF
No. [88], at 1312

Defendant argues that Youssef should not be permitted to testifys ajqualifications
relative to those of Powebgcause of the Court's decision at the summary judgment stage, in
which the Court held that Youssef's subjective opinion concerning his credelittiaiot weigh
heavily in the Court’'s analysisSeeDef.’s Mot. at 1112 (citing Youssef,I119 F. Supp. 3d at 191).
Defendant further argues that Youssef's own opinions that go beyond the contentsDoBte F
would only serve to distract the jury from the narrow retaliation céait confuse the jury asto
which of Plaintiff’'s qualifications were actually considered by the L@ at 10.

Plaintiff argues that his testimony would provide evidence showing that he had
gualfications, of which LCB members were (or reambly should have been) awatkat made
him obectively better qualified for thé\SC position than the candidate wheas ultimately
selected. Pl’s Opp'n at 11. Plaintiff further argues that such evideod also show the jury
that the LCB did not have a legitimate business reason for denying Pé&istpplication for
promotion to the ASC positionld. In other words, Plaintiff’'s testimony would be relevant for the
purpose of showing a potential retaliatory animus by members of the IdCB.

The Gourt begins its analysis by observitigat at the summary judgment staaelaintiff’s

121n supplemental briefing on this issue, Plaintiff stated that he edlfyt on this issue as a lay
person, rather than as an expert, which Plaintiff had indicated in €éinigs. SeePl.’s Supp.
Pretrial Brief, ECFNo. [88], at 13.
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own selfperception regardinghe stength ofhis own credentialsis normally of limited value for
purposes of establishing discriminatory condugée e.g, Perry v.Shinseki783 F. Supp. 2d 125,
137 (D.D.C. 2011)aff’'d 466 Fed. Appx. 11 (D.C. Cir. 2012)However,once the plaintiff has
survived summary judgment, the Courdisalysismust change Opinion testimonyattrial in this
casemust be viewed not in light of whether it is relevant to establishing a dispuestiahissue

of fact, but whether the opinion testimony has any tendency to make it moreaHiethe decision
to promote Poweristead of Youssetyas made with retaliatory animusSeered. R. kid. 401.
Thus, tke bar for relevance at tria lower than when evaluating the earlwotion for summary
judgment, because Plaintiff's opinion need not, alone, establish a dispsitedaf material fact.
See, e.gBurlington v. News CorpNo. 091908, 2010 WL 5481734, at *1 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 30,
2010) For this reasori the parties reach trial, and thaseno one else to speak on behalf of
Plaintiff as to his qualifications, I&ntiff should beafforded theopportunity togive his opinion
comparinghis qualifications in order to complete the record for the ju§eeGreenfield v. Sears,
Roebuck & CqNo. 0471086, 2006 WL 2927546, at*12 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 12, 2qd@published
table opinion) The Court is mindful that the relevaissuein this case is th&.CB’s perception of
Youssef's qualifications, not Youssefperceptionof his own qualfications. Therefore, to the
extent that another witness, such as Curran, testéiesan experind comparesyoussef’s
gualfications with Powers’ gualfiations, then Youssefshould not be permitted to give his
opinion comparing their qualfications However, the Court also recognizes that the jury must
consider a complete record, and that the jury should not hear only from the Li@fireeon the
issue ofYoussef’'s qualifications. Accordingly, if Plaintiff is unable to call any other withesses
who can testify on his behadfomparing his qualifications with those of Powdrintiff may
provide his owntestimony on the issue The Court is not opening the door for Youssef to testify
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as to every experience from the beginning of his career. Retaetjff maytestify only tothe
gualfications that were orhis FD-954, including his positions and competenciasd his
testimony should be limited in scope to information that would have been necessarily known to
the LCB members.

As a related point,in the parties’ Joint Pretrial Statement, Defendant indicates that it
intends to proffer testimony from the LCB membefSastro, Chase&arone, and Fernandez
concerning the application requirements for the ASC position, their rewiesessment, and
scoring of the FD-954s of the four candidates for the ASC position, includiigussef, and the
LCB proceedings related to this vacancjoirt Pretrial Statement, ECF No. [77], at 20. These
witnesses would also testifhattheir knowledge, if any, thatoussef had a pending lawsuit did
not influence their scoring of his description of the various competencigbef&ISC vacancy.

Id. The Caurt shall admit their testimony on these issues under Rule 701

Defendantalso indicates that it would call Powers to testify about the welkted
experience described in Powers’BB4 to rebut testimony by Youssef, or any other withess called
by Plaintff, about the relative qualifications for the vacancy at issdieint Pretrial Statement,
[77], at 23. The Court shall allow Powers’ testimony about his quadifisatunder Rule 701, but
shall limit his testimony only to those qualifications statetiisr-D-954.

ii. Youssefmayalso testify on the matter ofLCB proceduresin place at
the time of Youssefs norselection

Youssef also seeks testify as a lay person and as an expert on the matter of LCB
procedures. Pl.’s Witness RepdfCF No. [74], at8. Specifically, Youssef would testify as to
the role ofcareer boards the FBI promotional practice, the role of tbleairmanof the career

board, and the proceduresed by careemards. Id. His testimony would address the rights and
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responsibilities of career board members to interview candidates in torderderstand their
gualfications, especially if they were not famiiar with sigifit achievements set forth in the
FD-954. 1d. He wauld also render an opinion that the failure to interview Youssef, combined with
the fact that the chairman of the LCB did talk with other applicantsinajagropriate. Id. Youssef
would also testify that LCB members should review the complete9%D) an take into
consideration years of experience, the fact that the applicant was enipldigedection for which

the promotion would occur and other career milestones reflected in t884-Dd.

Defendant argues that Plaintiff should not be allowed feer biis personal opinion about
how the LCB proceedings should have occurred in this case. Def.’s MotDaf8ndant argues
that Plaintiff has not shown that the career boards on which Plaintiff héppéed operated
under the same or similar rulas the LCB in this case, that those career baanmsideredsimilar
positions as the ASC position in this case, or any other facts to sugtpstnt knowledge to
establish a foundation for his testimonid. According to Defendan® laintiff would beoffering
his own personal, subjective opinion under the guise of expert testinhdny.

Plaintiff argues that he is highly qualified to testify as an expert s@trmn the matter of
LCB procedures. Pl’s Opp’'n at 1As a managemeitevel employee at thEBI, Plaintiff was
on several occasions asked to sit on LCBs and did in fact sit on at leagti?&areer boards over
the course of his time at the FBId. Plaintiff also chaired at least 15 career boaaa&l argues
that he has a high level of famnity and expertise regarding the L@Bocess.Id.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court finds that Youssef tifgyates
to LCB policies angrocedures, so long as Youssef has personal knowledge of these procedures
from his experiencen LCB panels during the relevant 2009 time period. The Court observes
from the record that as a manager, Youssef was formally trained bythe the career board
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process and indicates that he is “fully familiar” with the rules govgr@areer Boardst the time
when his Assistant Section Chief application was review@d.s Witness Report, ECF No. [74],
at 78. The Court also observes that he has chaired 15 LCB panels and has been on 25 career
boards. Id. It appears to the Court that Youssefyrtestify on these issues as a lay withess under
Rule 701 so long as Youssef has personal knowledgeC&f procedures from his experience on
LCB panels during the relevant 2009 time periothe Court, however, is unable to determine
from the current read whether Youssef would qualfy as an expert as to LCB policies and
procedures, andoncludesthat if Plaintiff continues to request that Youssef be qualfied as an
expert, therthe issue of Youssef’s qualifications as an expert sigliire resolution teaDaubert
hearing.

Finally, as a related point, the Court shall not permit Youssef to testifylagsmatness or
as an expert, as to whether any specific actions taken by the FBI weetamgtainder Title VII.
Plaintiff has not establishedny qualfications by which the Court could conclude that he is an
expert on such issues, and to the extentYlassethas personal knowledge of these issues, his
testimony would be unfairly prejudicial and would not be helpful to the j8geFed. R.Evid.
403.

d) Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1, Exhibit 15, and
Demonstrative Aids No. 16.

Defendantalso seeks toexclude certain exhibits and demonstrative aidkat Plaintiff
intends to offer at trial Def.’s Mot. at 12. Specifcally, Defendant seeks to exclude Plaintiff’s
Exhibit 1, Exhibit 15, anddemonstrative A&ls No. 1-6. Id. at 1213.

i.  Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiffs Exhibit 1, which consists
of Plaintiffs performance appraisal reports from 1989 to 2004.

Phintiff's Exhibit 1 consists of Plaintiff's FBI performance appraisaports(“PARS”)
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from 1989 to 2004. Defendant argues that Plaintiff hopes to sway the jury by the fidrodofc
these reports because they may contain positive remarks about Blgiftifperformance. Def.’s
Mot. at 12. Defendant argues that the reports are irrelevant to thedwvigl process and the
nonselection decision at issue in this case because they were not ezhdgiethe LCB. Id.
Plaintiff arguesthatthesePARS particularly the 1995 and 2000 PARs, discuss Youssef's role in
the investigation of Omar Abdel Rahman, a.k.a.,'Bkd Sheikh’ Youssef'sperformance as
the Legal Attaché in Riyadh, and the evaluations and reasoning behind giving fYloeiBdre ctor
of Central Inteligence AwardPl.’s Supp. Pretrial Brief, ECF N§8§], at 14.

Plaintiff argues that these elements are all noted in Youssef85&and were factors
considered by the LCBId. at 1415. Plaintiff argues that the PARs would be helpfumembers
of the jury who may not be awaretbese accomplishmentdd. at 1513

Uponconsideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court concludes that therPBEXehit
1 are not relevant to the ngelection decision because they were not considegparately by the
LCB when selecting the new ASGeeFed R. Evid. 401. Furthermore, the information in the
1995 and 2000 PARs concerning Youssef's role in the investigation of the Blind Sheikis and hi
performance as the Legal Attaché in Riyadh athenFD-954 itself, thereby makingniroduction
of Exhibit 1 prejudicial, not helpful to the juryand needlessly cumulativeéSeeFed. R. Evid. 403.
Accordingly, Plaintiff may not introduc®laintiff’'s Exhibit 1at trial

ii. Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiff s Exhibit 15, which
concems Plaintiffs performance in the Riyadh office.

Plaintiff's Exhibit 15 comprises 15 pages of ag®e report concerning an inspection of

13 Plaintiff also argues that the PARe relevant to establishirg reputational baseline dating
back to the 1998s-an argument that the Court rejec&eePart A.1.b.ii, supra
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an FBI office in Riyadh, Saudirabia The document describes in detail Plaintiff's role on this
assignment at the Riyadh offigethe late 1990s. Defendant argues that the document is irrelevant
to the claim in this case because it was not submitted to or condijetieel LCB. Def.’s Mot. at
15. Defendant further argues that to the extent that any portions of the report wedeimuote
Plaintiff's FD-954, those references will be adeuttthrough the FB®54 itself. Id.

Plaintiff argues thatke Exhibit 15, Exhibit 1 would help the jury to understand the
significance of Youssef's accomplishments in the Riyadh offleE's Supp. Pretrial BriefzCF
No. [88], at 15. The Court finds this argument unavailing. Plaintiff's Exhibit 15 suffeosfthe
same defects as Plaintiff’'s Exhibit 1. Exhibit 15 is not relevanheonbnrselection decision
because it was not considered separately by the LCB when selecting tA&@evEed-ed R.
Evid. 401. Furthermore, Youssef's performance as the Legal Attaché in Rsyddhcribed in
the FD954. Introduction ofeparateevidence withat a link to the LCB deliberation process
would beprejudicial and not helpful to the jurySeeFed. R. Evid. 403.Accordingly, Plaintiff
may not offer at trial Plaintiff's Exhibit 15.

iii.  Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiffs Demonstrative Aids No.
1-6, which contain information as to Plaintiffs length of service.

Plaintiffs Demonstrative Aids No.-& describe information about Plaintiff's length of
service in various capaciti#s comparison to that of Powers

The parties disagree as to whether the LCB could take into consideration eangpli
length of service. The disagreement concerns the applicability of aptdCBdure allowing for
the LCB’s technical consideration of an applicant’s “totalty of experiéndde Court addresses
the parties’ arguments concerning the applicability of this “totalty of expesi’ approach later

in the Court’'s opinion, irPartlll.C.2. For the purposes of tlgourt’'s analysis with regard to
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Plaintiff's Demonstrative AiddNo. 1-6, the Couriconcludesfor the reasons stated in PHIiC.2
that the applicable procedures in place at the time of Youssef'selention would not have
allowed for the technical consideration of an applicant’'s “totalty of expeei.” SeePartlll.C.2,
see alsovoussef,I19 F. Supp. 3d at 189

Defendant argues thaetause the LCBnemberswere not allowed to consider the
applicants’relative lengths of service, Plaintiff's Demonstrative Aids N@& viould confuse the
jury by suggesting that Rrdiff was the betteqqualified applicant according to factors that were
irrelevant to the selection decisioseeDef.’s Mot. at 13.

In responsePlaintiff notesthat Demonstrative Aids No.-@ each contain information
contained within Youssef's FB54 Pl.’s Opp'n at 13. Plaintiff argues that the documents would
not confuse the jury, and would merely set forth the information containedlydioecY oussef's
FD-954 and then contrast the information to the information set forth on Pdvize884. Id. at
14.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court concludes thatffRainti
Demonstrative Aids No.-&—which focus on the relative length of service of the two applieants
would not be helpful to a jury, as this would highlight a factor not part of the délieeaocess
of the LCB As conceded by both parties, the information described by these documents can
already be found in the FBb4s, which W be introduced to the jury.Therefore, Demonstrative
Aids No. 16, introduced on their ownvould be prejudicial, not helpful to the jury, and needlessly
cumulative. SeeFed. R. Evid. 403. Accordindy, Plaintiff may not offer at trial Plaintiff’s
Demonstrative Aids No.-6.

2. Testimony and Evidence of Any Alleged Prior Discriminatory Acts or Réaliatory
Acts including the Basis for theYoussef | Retaliation Claim

Defendant objects tlaintiff’'s introduction of evidence of alleged prior discriminatory or
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retaliatory acts or cims. Specificaly, Defendant's motion requests that the Court r(l) Ii
testimony and evidence about Youssef's prior EEO activity to a neutrainetatt that hevas
engaging in such activity at the time of his 1s&tection for the ASC position and (2)cexle
evidence concerning the ongoing Inspector General Investigation, arising frotiebidviger
activity, or any alleged prior discriminatory or retaliatory acts by dfttlials other than any such
alegations directed at the LCRxdisionmakersthat areclose in time to the alleged retaliation in
this case. Def.’s Mot. at 14, 16. The Court shall address each request in turn.

a) The Court shall limit testimony and evidence abut Youssefs prior EEO
activities to a neutral statement that he was engaging isuchactivities at the
time of his nonselection for the ASC position, and that the FBI is not
permitted to take retaliatory action in response to those activitie.s

Defendant requests that the Court limit testimony and evidence about YopseefiSEO
activity to a neutral statement that he was engaging in such gctubh as depositionst the
time of his norselection for the ASC position. Def.’s Mot. at 14. Defendant further ségjue
that to the extent that Youssef is permitted to introducegealleevidence of other discriminatory
or retaliatory acts by the FBI as background information or for any other purpos&| steé&ld
be entitled to introduce evidence thatWaussefjury found that the FBI did not retaliate against
Youssef to show tithe prior allegations were found to lack merid.

As background, the Court notes thadussef claims that the FBI retaliated against him
when he was not selected for the ASC position in 2009.At the time of the selectiodecision,
Youssef wasarticipating in depositions and court proceedings related to his retalidaion in
Youssef.l Id. In Youssef,IYoussef alsdrought a national origindiscrimination claim which

had been dismissed eighteen months prior to the selection decision, buteweasriatated by

the Court of Appeals.ld. Defendant argues that the Court should not allow testimony about
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Youssefs national origin claim because the unfair prejudice to the FBI would gliwamny
probative value under FRE 403d. Specifically, Defendant argues that the introduction of
evidence relating to Youssef’'s national origin claim would be unfairlyugicial because the
claim was not the protected activitppon which Youssef bases his retaliation claim in this case.
Id. at 15. Rather, Defendant argues, Youssef's protected activity inlltbé 2809 was a Title
VIl retaliation claim based on Youssef's same national origin clamwhich the Youssef jury
later entered a verdict in favor of the FBId. Defendant further argues that Youssef, by
introducing this evidence, would misleate jury into believing that his pending protected activity
was based solely on a national origin discrimination clalich. Defendant requests that to the
extent that Youssef seeks to introduce evidence about his prior protecteg-aoctivir than a
neutral statement that he engaged in protected EEO aetiity FBI should be entitled to
introduce evidence that the poted activity was a claim for retaliation based on the same
underlying protected activity and that a prior jury entered judgment in favor of theld=B

Plaintiff agrees with Defendant that any discuss@ncerning the merits dfis prior
claims, by either party, is inappropriate. Pl’s Opp'n atABs Mot. at 56.14 Plaintiff also
agrees with Defendant's argument that any reference to dismissie® eleuld be highly
prejudicial. 1d. According to Plaintiff, the issue in this retaliation case is Ydissght to
participate in antdiscrimination proceedings or to oppose discriminatory practicesP laintiff
disagrees with Defendant’'s suggestion that any reference to the existénesealaims for the

purpose of providing background to Plaintiff's retaliation claim necessitageintroduction of

141n fact, Plaintiff requests in his Motiom Liminethat the Court exclude evidence of the merits
of Plaintiff's prior action against Deffelant from considerationSeePl.’s Mot. at 56. In
Plaintiff's motion, Plaintiff argues that presentation of evidersgardingthe verdict from
Plaintiff’'s prior action would confuse the jury and result in undue prejudideat 6.
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the prior jury verdict Defendant mentionsld. Plaintiff further argues that Defendant’s
presentation of the results of the eartiesse would mislead etjury by insinuating that a prieus
jury entered a verdict that Plaintiff was not retaliated agaittkt. Instead,Plaintiff arguesthe
previous jury onlyreached the question of whether or not a delay or denial of inspection
certification constituted an adverse ergplent action.ld. The jury never reached the ultimate
guestion of retaliation.ld. Plaintiff thereforerequests that if Defendant is permitted to introduce
evidence of the mr verdict, then Plaintiffbe allowed to introduce evidence of his good faith
bases for believing that he was retaliated agaldstat 17. Plaintiff specifically requests that the
Court allow Deputy Assistant Director John Lewis to provide testimony regatttingvents in
guesibn that Lewis testified to in his deposition, and to explain why Lewis’ aimisin his
depostition causeRlaintiff to pursue a retaliation case based on the delay/denial of inspection
certification. Id. Plaintiff also requests that he be permittedab at least one FBI withess from
Youssef to provide testimony as to why the delay or denial of inspection certificamnat an
adverse actionld.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Cfinols it appropriate to limit
testimony ad evidence about Youssef’'s prior EEO activity and any prior discriminatory t@act
a neutral statement that he was engaging in such activity at the tinge nofaselection for the
ASC position, and that the FBI is not permitted to take retaliatory adtionssponse to that
activity. There is little reasofor the parties to go into argiscussion of Youssef's prior EEO
activity or to have a mini trial of what the alleged retaliatory actewgich information would
not be relevant to any issue instliase SeeFed. R. Evid. 401.The parties do not dispute that
Youssef was engaged in prior EEO activity, and Defenddastnot conveyed an intenticio
present any evidence suggesting that Youssef did not engage in EEO activity in ijood fa
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Plaintiff is permitted to call a witness, whether it be someone in authority BBih@ otherwise,
to testify that Youssef can pursue EEO activities, that he can be absedwrirtoopursue such
activities, and that the FBI cannot retaliate by taking negattiena against hi®> However, to
alow any further testimony and evidence about Youssef's prior EEO actiily paor
discriminatory acts would open the door to a discussion that would be unhelpfuljuxy thed
would besubstantially mor@rejudicial than probative.SeeFed. R. Evid. 403.
b) IG Investigation and other Alleged Discriminatory or Retaliatory Acts

Defendant also requests that Plaintiff not be permitted to introduce evidemcerningan
ongoing Inspector GenerdllG”) investigation, asing from whistleblower activity, or any
alleged prior discriminatory or retaliatory acts by FBI officialbeotthan any suchlegations
directed at the LCBetisionmakers that are close in time to the aleged retaliation icabe
Def.’s Mot. at16.16

The issue of Youssef's participation in the 1G investigation primaoigcerns two exhibits
proffered by Youssef: (1) the handwritten notes of LCB member, Zarone,cit@npanied
Youssef's 2009 PAR, in which Zarone wrote “OIG Report,” next égal matter,” under the
heading of “distractors” (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5) and (2) the discussion ofiséef’s whistleblower
activity in theMother Jonesrticle entitled, FBI's Least Wantet(Plaintiff's Exhibit 12). The

Court will first address the admissibility of evidence and testimony ezomg Zarone’s notes

151n the JointPretrial Statement,I&ntiff hasidentified a number of withessesho he plans to
call to testify to the fact that Youssef had a right to fle and pursugtlkisVIl discrimination
case, and that the FBI cannot retaliate by taking negative actionstagain Plaintiff, however,
may introduce such testimony only to the extent that it would belwmgicative. SeeFed. R.
Evid. 403.
16 Defendant states that it is unaware of any allegations that fall whthifatter category and
notes that Youssef’s prior protected activity involved different FBtiaf. Def.’s Mot. at 16.
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and the referenced IG report as well as the related investigation. Thendloiren address the
admissibilty of theMother Jonesrticle.
i. Deferdant may offer testimony by Zarone concerninghe OIG Report
only as it relates to the narrow issue of Zarone’s handwritten comnme
on Youssefs 2009 PAR. Plaintiff may impeach Zarone’s te stimorigt

may not introduce additional testimony and evidence about the
underlying IG investigation.

In its Motion in Limine Defendant arguekat testimony and evidence about the underlying
IG investigation (or about any other alleged -0 retaliation) should not be permitted, and
that the Court may address any reference to th@é€stigation inZarone’s notes by pry
instruction that Youssef's participation in the IG investigation is nat ahould not, be
considered protected EEO activity for purposes of Youssef’'s Titleretdliation claim. Def.’s
Mot. at 17. Defendant argues that participatioramlG investigation is not protected activity
within the meaning of Title VII and therefore cannot give rise to a diaindamages under this
statute.ld. (citing Youssef,119 F. Supp. 3d at 1999; 42 U.S82000e3(a). Rather, Defendant
argues, ther is a separate administrative process for FBI employees to grieve aliggéation
for engagement in 1G investigations, 4 U.S§2303, with no right to file a civil action.Id.
Defendant argues that Youssef does not proffer that he has exhasistddhihistrative remedies
and cannot establish a basistf@ introduction of evidence about the underlying IG investigation.
Id. at 18. Therefore,Defendant argues, Youssef has no retaliation claim based on the I1G
investigation and any testimony or evidence about the investigation should be exdtided.

Plaintiff respondsn his Opposition briefo Defendant’s Motiorin Liminethat he “will be
able to call any one of hundreds of withess” to testify that Youssef's patiiripan the IG
investigation referenced in the Zarone notes was lawful, mandatory, andnobulte used,
directly or indirectly, for lowering his performance. Pl’s Opp’n at Baintiff further argues
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that Youssef faced criticism for hiparticipation in the 1G investigation, and that such criticism
constitutes strong evidence of pretextl. Plaintiff also argues that the IG investigation was
interwoven into his EEO concermand that he plans to introduce testimony and evidénce
support of this argumentld. at 1819.

In response to these argumerdefendantontends that Plaintiff failetb include a formal
notice of intent to introduce evidence of specific prior rilisinatory or retaliatory acts or claims
by Defendant in accordance with Rule 404(b). Def.’s Reply at 10. Defeardaet that without
such specific notice, or a proffer by Plaintiff of the specific clamnsacts he contends are
probative of retaliatgr animus in this case,the Court is not in a position to determine if a narrowe
rule would be appropriateld. Defendant argues that this puts Defendant in an unfair position of
having to object to such evidence at trial without having the benefiprataal hearing

The parties’ arguments changed directions, howevetheafirst pretrial conferencet
which Defendant indicated that it plans to introduce evidence at trial abous thedstigation,
due to the investigation’s refemmin Zarone’'sotes. Prior to that conference, it had beesiear
whether Defendant had plannedréderencehe |G investigationat trial. Accordingly, theCourt
orderedDefendant to provideadditional information about the exact nature of the evideimae
Defendansedks to introduce and its relevanc®rder dated July 2, 201E5CFNo. [86], at 56.

In Defendant’ssupplemental briefiled in response to th&@&rder, Defendant states that the
OIG Report, and not the longstanding investigation itself, is relevantaiotiiPt retaliation
claim. Def.’s Supp. Pretrial BriefECFNo. [89], at 8. Defendant argues that the report itself is
relevant because Zarone listed the report as a distractor in the mdwotes he attached to
Youssef's 2009 PAR, which was issued at about the same time that Zareed on the LCB
that did not select Plaintiff for the ASC positioid. According to its briefDefendant does not
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intend to introduce evidence about the IG investigation because Zarone'’s rotésPiaintiff
seeks to introduce as a trial exhibit, do not refer to Plaintiff'srtiffj@ation in an IG
investigation,” but rather to any distraction that the impending releathe @IG report itself
may have caused Plaintiff during the 2009 review periddat 89. Defendant seeks to introduce
the testimony of Zarone that he honestly believed that the uncertainty as to tlie tegaiment

of Plaintiff weighed upon Plaintiff and served to distract him from perfocmaof his duties in
2009. Id. at 9. Defendant contends that such evidence does not open the door to all of the
evidenceabout the IG investigation that Plaintiff seeks to introduéecording t Defendant,

this profferedtrial testimony does not include testimony about the IG investigation or even
Plaintiff’'s participation therein.d. at11. Rather, Defendant argues;af@’s notesn Exhibit 5
make clear that the “distractor” was the almost completed “IG Rep@&¥’ #ad the uncertainty

as to how the repowould treat Plaintiff. Id.

In response, Plaintiff states thdie plans to present testimony concerning the IG
investigation in its case in chief (anticipating the FBI's argumentsefiforth in Defendant’s
Supplemental Memorandum) aslires a part of his rebuttal casel.’s 2nd Pretrial BriefECF
No. [9(], at 11. Plaintiffargues that Zaroneisotesin Exhibt 5 as a wholeappear to contradict
Zarone’s proffered testimonyld. For example, Zarone writes that Youssef spent “too muadh ti
away from [the office],” and thaotes Plaintiff arguesdo not suggest a belief that Youssef was
mentally distracted byhe pending release of an OIG reportd. To rebut Defendant’s
interpretation of Zarone’s notes, Plaintiff anticipates introducing nexte testimony and
evidenceregarding,inter alia, Youssef's right to fully participate in the OIG reviewgussef's
fiing of a Title VII discrimination action related to the 1G investigation, and Youssefasons
for not pursuing alleged claims related to the IG investigation in this adtbmt 13. Plaintiff
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also points out that he plans to introduce such testimony and evidence out of relatdmsbad
inttially wanted to enter into a stipulation with Defendamtcerning the presentation of evidence
related to the OIG investigationld. at 14. However, according to Plaintiff, Defendant was not
wilin g to engage in any constructive discussions concerning such a stipulaticat 1415.

The Court discussethese argumentis great detaiwith the partiesat the second pretrial
conference Upon review of their argumentd)et Court found that Zarone can testify that Youssef
was distracted as to how the OIG Report would impact him and his dep&rame Plaintiff can
impeach Zarone with Zarone’s other statements indicating that ityaassef's absences that
distracted Youssef and impacted his perforoea Plaintiff, however, need not introduce
evidence that Youssef’s participation in the OIG investigation was maypdatdess it becomes
an issue, in which case Plaintiff may clarify the mandatory nature ofubstigation. The Court
stresseshatthe poffered testimonyregarding the OIG Repois relevant onlyso farastt ties
back to thehandwrittencomment on the 2009 PARhich itseff is relevant in the context of the
retaliatory animus, not for other reason¥herefore,Zarone’stestimony recarding the OIG
Reportshould be limitedto showthat the OIG Report was simply a review of activitieghin
Youssefs unit and that the parties knew that the report was forthcomBinilarly, Plaintiff’s
rebuttal should be limited to impeaching Zarenstatementas to his reasons for writing the
handwritten comments on the 2009 PARhe parties’ discussion of these issues should not
become a mini trial concerning the OIG Report or the investigationhegsatre notdirectly
relevant to the issue oétaliatory consideration in thisaseand wil confuse the jury SeeFed.

R. Evid. 401, 403.

Accordingly, Plaintiff maynot introduce additional testimony and evidence about the

underlying IG investigatian The Court shall exclude any testimony from Judge Valerie Caproni,
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the Inspector General, and the Deputy Attorney General, because adstimbrty is not directly
relevant to the issue of retaliatory consideration in ¢aiseand wil confuse the jury SeeFed.
R. Evid. 401, 403. The Court shall also exclude Plaintiff's Exhibits3126all of which concern
the IG investigation, for the same reason.

ii.  Plaintiff may introduce a redacted version of the Mother Jones’
article, with all parts redacted e xcepfor the title and the two references
to Youssefs discrimination laws uit.

Defendant also requests that Plaintiff not be permitted to introducetifPdaExhibit 12,
anine-page article from the publicatioklother Jonegntitled, “FBI’'s Least Wantetas evidence
of retaliatory animus. Def.’s Mot. at 18. The article discussms¥ef’'s whistleblowing activities
and makes two references to Youssef's discrimination lawsuit.fenDant argues that the
probative value of the exhibit to Youssef's EEO claim is marginal and iegligd by the unfair
prejudice of its‘self-serving description of his nelEEO whistleblower activity under a FRE 403
balancing. 1d. Inresponse, Plaintiff notes that Defendant raises no objedtiotige use of the
Mother Jonesrticle to demonstrate knowledge, and to impeach Zarone’s credibilitys Clp’'n
at 20. Plaintiff further argues, in both its Opposition to Defendant'soMatind in Plaintiff’s
Motion in Liming that the article is fully admissible because Plaintifékseto introduce the
evidence for a nehearsay purpose. Pl’s Opp'n at 20; Pl.’s Mot.-&86 Plaintiff further argues
that the article is highly probative and does not present a substantial risk of puagldice to
Defendant.ld.

Upon consideratiorof the parties’ arguments, the Court issudidding at the first pretrial
conference that the article is probative evidence that Zarone knew that Yeasssigaged in an
EEO matter and that it impeaches Zarone’s deposition testimony that he lmessefYwas
engaged in a legal matter, but was not aware that the legal matter wa® d&awsSHit. SeeOrder
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dated July 2, 2015, ECF Ng86], at 6. However, the probative value of the article is
counterbalanced by the factthat it is a lengthy article focused prinmariyoussef’'s career and
his whistleblowing activities-irrelevant and unfairly prejudiciaihformation which the Court has
soudnt to limit being introduced in this caseand only briefly references Youssef's discrimination
lawsuit. Id. Accordingly, the Court ordered the parties to propose in their supplementalpretr
briefs a means for introducing the article at trial that ddadlance the probativealue with the
unfair prejudicial value of the article under FRE 408. The Court proposed that one resolution
for balancing the probative andfair prejudicial value of the article would be to introduce the full
article attml, but redact everything from the article except the two short refegsency oussef’s
discrimination lawsuit and instruct the jury that the redacted portiotise @rticle are not relevant
to the claims at issudd. at 67.

In response to the CowstJuly 2, 2015 Order, Plaintified its Supplemental Pretrial Brief,
in which Plaintiff argued that introduction of the article would not be upfgiriejudicial to
Defendant because Defendant’s officers were “entirely responsible fargridi articlerelevant
evidence in the first instancePl.’s Supp. Pretrial BrietzCFNo. [8§], at 11. Plaintiff argues that
the article was circulated around the FBI electronicallyd brought to the attentiaf Zarone, not
in a redacted format that only emphasizthe portions discussing Youssef's discrimination suit,
but its full form. Id. at 1212. Specifically, as Plaintiff noted in additional briefindpe article was
published on an online web magalled the “Sentinel,” which vgamade available to everBF
employee via the FBI's internal networll.’s 2nd Supp. Pretrial BrieEECF No. [90], at 12.
Plaintiff goes so far as to argue that redacting the article would Biitietional equivalent of a
court in a sentencing hearing for a murder excludihgtqgraphic evidence of the body because
to do otherwise might unfairly prejudice the murderdd” at 12. In the alternativejf the Court
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allows a redaction version of the article into evidedlaintiff requests that the jury be presented
with the prtions of the article that discuss Youssef's discrimination matig at 1213. By
providing a redacted article in this fashion, Plaintiff argues, thetGuowld strike a middle
ground, permitting the jury to see the article without the text that Deafefids prejudicial. 1d.

at 13. Plaintiff alsosuggests the following limiting instruction, “The parts of the article dina
deleted concern issues Youssef had with the FBI, but do not mention his digcimiaavsuit.”

Id.

In Defendant’'s Suppmental Pretrial Brief, Defendaatgues against the introduction of
the article in any form because Zarone has testified that he “didamotfrom skimming the article
that Youssef had filed any type of discrimination complaint against the E®.’sSupp. Pretrial
Brief, ECFNo [89], atll (quoting Zarone Decl. at%$21). Defendant further argues that Zarone’s
vague recollection of the article does not justify introduction of any portions eftible because
of its highly prejudicial value.ld. In the alternative, Defendant agresith the Court’s proposal
to balance the probative amdfair prejudicial value of the article.ld. To avoid confusion,
Defendant specifically requests that the title of the article be redactedheajutyt be nstructed
that the article was about Youssef's career at the KBlat 1112. Plaintiff opposes this request,
asking insteadhat the Court admit the title of the article, as well as its fasagraph.Pl.’s 2nd
Supp. Pretrial Brief, ECF No. [90]t &7.

Upon consideration of the partiearguments, the Couissued &inding at the second
pretrial conference that the entire article shall be introduced, but lemgryghall be redacted
except for the title and the two references to Youssef's disetion lawsuit. The Court shall
instruct the jury that the redacted portions of the article are retarglto the claims at issue.
Zarone and Jeanine Santa, the FBI official who showeithther Jonesirticle to Zaronemay
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testify as to the circumgtaes in which Zarone was shown the arti¢fowever, in order to argue
that the article was circulated around the FBI and seen by other FBI eagldylaintiff must call
(1) a witness who can testify ¢ertain key facts regarding the article’s publaati such as whether
the article was in fact availablen theSentinel and the time frame that it wastibaSentinel, and
(2) a witness who can testify astle key facts regarding th8entines readership, including
whether all or most FBI employees Hoat the Sentinel, whether Chase and Castrodhakewere
likely to look, atthe Sentinel, who controls the Sentinel, and who puts articles on the Senanel
date Plaintiff has not identified such withgss). Accordingly, he Courtshall set a datéy which
Plaintiff must disclosesuch withes@s. If Plaintiff does not disclose such witnessedtmsydate
set by the CourtPlaintiff shall be precluded by the Court from making this argument.

ii.  Plaintiff may introduce testimony about Youssefs EEOactivity by
non-decisionmakers only to state that Plaintiff was involved in EEO
activity and is entitled to protections when he engages in such actiyit

Defendant also requests that Plaintiff not be permitted to questichG®rmmembers or
nondecisionmakers about Youssef's EEO activity. Def.’s Mot. at 18emleint argues that the
purpose of such an inquiry would be to ask the jury to improperly infer knowledge by the
decisionmakersabout Youssef's EEO activity based on the knowledge ofdexisionmakers.

Id. Defendant further argues that Plaintiff has failed to proffer evidewoe \irhich a jury could
reasonably infer that any of these potential witnesses had any influence, or evey inpdta
on the selection decisionld. at 1819. Plaintiff's opposition brief did not addreBsefendant’s
arguments. When the Court raised the issue for discussithe dirst pretrial conference,
Plaintiff's counselindicated that invoussef,lthe FBIhadstipulated that Youssef's involve ment
in the EEO process was protected, and that he had a right to take leave to attetidraepeti.,

but that Defendant has made no such stipulation in this ¢Hs@n consideration of the parties’
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arguments, the Coursued a finding at thdirst pretrial corfierencethat testimony concerning
Youssef's EEO activities by naecisionmakers, i.e., individuals who have not been involved in
the ASC norselection or in any way had knowledge of Youssef's protected activity, ivangle
and is therefore excluded.For instance, the Court shall not admit testimony aynon
decisionmaker, Tracy North, concerning Youssef's EEO activities,useder testimony would
not be relevantPlaintiff, can however, call a withess to testify tRéintiff was involved in EEO
activities, and he is entitled to protections when he is absent due to thetiesact~or instance,
Plaintiff may call a withess to testify that Plaintiff's PAR ynaot be downgraded for his
participation in EEO activities.

3. Testimony and Evidence Relatig to the Downgrade in Plaintiffs 2009 PAR

Defendantlsorequests that the Court limit and segregate testimony and evidenaggrelat
to the downgrade in Plaintiff's 2009 Performance Appraisal Report (“PAR”)

Defendant opposes Plaintiff's introduction of evidencehefdowngradeas evidence of
retaliatory animus. Deg Mot. at 19. Defendant argues that the Calmbuld limit Plaintiff’s
presentatiorof this evidencebecause the 2009 PAR is not the allegedenally adverse action in
this case, and because the document was betene the LCB.Id. Defendant further argues that
Youssef's FD954 did not describe either his 2008 or 2009 work experience and therefore
introduction of evidence about his perfamee during those years wil be confusing to the jury
without an appropriate jurynstruction, which Defendaproposed in the joint pretrial statement.
Id. Defendant further requests that presentation of evidence about the 2009 PAR getesggre
from testimony about the selection process, and that the Court preclude testimonyitfresses
solely to discuss the PAR and the appeal proddssJnder this framework, Plaintiff woultestify
that he received the 2009 PAR, that he filed a grievance, aingMi elements were raised slightly,
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and others were sustainedld. at 1920. Defendant argues that its requesuld avoid an
unnecessary and improper mini trial on the PAR process that wil corfespry as to the
relevance of this information.d. at 20.

In response, Plaintiff argues that this Court has already found that the dowmgrade
Plaintiff's 2009 PAR constituted evidence from which a reasonableotrfact could find that the
LCB members were driven by retaliatory animu$®l’s Opp’n at 2122 (citing the Court's
Memorandum Opinion, denying Defendant's Motion for Partial ReconsideratioR, N&(]62]
at4-5). Plaintiff argues that the PAR downgrade, coupled with Zarone’s accompaoyimgents
used to justify the scores he gave to Plaintiff, establish evidence tretdaet had knowledge of
Plaintiff's protected activity, and this downgrade took place shortly betfmemeéng of
Plaintiffs LCB. Id. at 22. Plaintiff argues thatdcause Zarone was a member of that very same
LCB, evidence that Zaronacted withretaliatory animus towardBlaintiff is evidence from which
ajury could infer that the LCB acted with such animus when making itsiaedo deny Youssef
the promotion to ASCId. Plaintiff further argues that introduction of the PAR dovaalgr would
not confuse the juryld. This is so, Plaintiff argues, because the downgrade was made by Zarone,
a member of the LCB, and was approved by Fernandez, the person responsiblegrfiogdés
LCB process that resulted in the aigttory actof which Plaintiff complains 1d. Moreover,
Plaintiff argues, exclusion of Zarone’s note on the 2009 PAR regarding Pditiifjal matter”
and the “OIG Report” would be extremely prejudicial to Plaintiff, and wouldhééegquivalent of
denying Plaintiff his day in court.ld.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court issdidirg at the second
pretrial conference that the 2009 PAR and accompanying notes are relevdng tase,
specifically, to establishing retaliatory animus, and thus shall not hededcin its entirety.See
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Fed. R. Evid. 401, 403. The Court is cognizant that Plaintiff has not broughitnavath respect
to the 2009 PAR reduction. h&refore to avoid any jury confusionPlaintiff's presentationof
testimony and evidence on this issuastbe limited to thenarrowissue of retaliatory animus, and
a jury instruction limiting the use of the evidence would be appropriate.

Furthermore for the reasons discussed aba@dence concerning trappellate review of
the downgrade in Youssef's 2009 PaRuld not be relevant tthe issue of retaliatory animus.
In adjsting the ratings in Youssef's 2009 PAR, Assist@aimector Heimbachonly considered
[Youssef's] actual work performamavhen making [his] decision.”Youssef,119 F. Supp. 3d at
174. Furthermore, Heimbach adjusted the ratings after Youssef:seleabn, andPlaintiff has
not established a factual predicate that any voting member othefdhameknew abouthe 2009
PAR downgradeat the time of Youssef's neselection Therefore,Defendant shall not be
permitted to introduce testimony by Heimbach taal concerning Youssef's request for
reconsideration of his 2009 PABecause it would not be related to the issue of retaliatory animus
For the same reasqrBlaintiff should not be permitted to call Mary Louise Felder, the former
Section Chief for e Administrative Section, concerning the reasons for reversing ratings on
Plaintiffs 2009 PAR. Finally,any testimony by Zarone concerning the 2009 PAR downgrade
mustbe limited to the issue of retaliatory animus, avay not concern Youssef's 2008 PA&,
the reversal of Youssef's 2009 PAR by Heimhalobcause such testimony would notrélevant
to the issue of retaliatory animus

Additionally, for the reasons stated above, Plaintiff may not introduce Youssef's 2008 PAR
(Plaintiff’'s Exhibit 3); the Noember 4, 2009 email from Youssefto Heimbach regarding the PAR
grievance (Plaintiffs Exhibit 7), and the November 20, 2009 email from Helmba Youssef
regarding the adjustment of PAR’s 2009 PAR, because such evidence vantrd@ the LCB
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selectionprocess and would not be relevant to the issue of retaliatory animus.
B. PLANTIFF 'S MOTION INLIMINE

Plaintiff's Motion in Limine requests that the Court grant the following reliétf)
evidence or argument that the denial of Youssef's selection fé&xSfeposition was not an
adverse action; (2) evidence or argument regarding the merit, or lackipfan¥oussef’s
underlying Title VII proceedings should be excluded from the jury; and (3) the “Matres”
article enttled “The FBI's least wanted” snae introduced into evidence with a limiting
instruction that the contents of the article are not introduced from theofrtite matter asserted
therein. Pl’s Mot. at 1. The Court shall address each request in ttrn.

1. Defendant may introduce evidenceat trial in support of its argument that the
denial of Youssefs selection for the ASC position was not an adverse acti

Plaintiff requests that the Court exclude any evidence or argument by Defenddin¢ tha
denial of Youssef's selection for the ASC position was not an adverse a®ids. Mot. at 1.
Plaintiff seeks a jury instruction, stating that “Defendant’s decigiodeny Plaintiff a promotion
to the position of Assistant Section Chief constitutes, by law, an advepisyewent action No
evidence, offered by either party, should be considered as proof of the contdaigt™2.

One of the elements that Plaintiff must prove in order to prevail atstriabt Defendant
took an “adverse employment action” against him. The D.C. Circuit haededn “adverse
employment action” to mean “a significant change in employment status,shring faiing to

promote, reassignment with significantly different responsibilitiesy dercision causing significant

17The Court notes that Plaintiff's second and third requests concern issadydiscussedy
the Court in its analysis @fommon issues presentedgfendant’s Motionn Limine Because
the Court resolves these issues for the reasons previously stated, tledidowsgsion of these
issues will be relatively briefso as to avoid unnecessary repetiion.
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change in benefits."Douglas v. Donovayb59 F.3d 549, 552 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (quotimgylor v.
Smal| 350 F.3d 1286, 1293 (D.C. Cir. 2003)).

Plaintiff argues that as a matter of law, this Court should find te&trdant’'s denial of
Plaintiff's application for promotionconstitutesan adverse employment actibecause Plaintiff
applied for a promotion when he sought the ASC position, and Defendant’s failurentoter
Plaintiff constitutes an adverse employment acti®t.’s Mot. at 3 To hold otherwise, argues
Plaintiff, would only serve to cause confusion among the jurors, delay the trial bynige dRigintiff
to introduce unnecessary evidence, and waste judicial resources under FRE&08. In support
of this argument, Plaintiff notes that Plaintiff’'s direct supervisas Wrthur Zarone, who held the
ASC posttion in Youssef’s section, and that by applying for an ASC position, Yauasepplying
for a onelevel promotion, with a significantly higher profile and responsibility, luiding
supervisory authorityover 140 personsld. at 3.

In opposition, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’'s motion is proceduraly impropeause it
seeks to resolve a disputed element of Plaintiff's claim, angei®fiore an improper motion for
partial summary judgment that stebute denied. Def.’s Opp’n at 2. Defendant disputestiieat
ASC position would have been a promotion for Youdsmh his Unit Chief position. Id. at 5.
Defendant anges that “what constitutes a promotion . .. may only be decided by looking at an
empbyee’s skils and goals in the context of an employer’'s needs and openingswiaitihois a
guestion properly reserved for the jury, not to be ruled on as a matter of e bypurt.” Id.
(quoting Malarkey v. Texaco, IncO83 F.2d 1204, 1212 (2d Cit993)). Defendant argues that the

GS15 ASC position wouldmerely havebeen a “reassignmentAs opposed ta promotion over
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his GS15 Unit Chief posttion. Id. (citing Parlave Dec). ECF No. [811]).18 ThereforeP laintiff
would not have received any increase in salary, and the reassignment to tip@skis@ would
not have been the next step required for Plaintiff's advancement withifBh Id. Defendant
argues that the next step for Plaintiff in the recognized promotional traéiBfaspecialagents
wasnot the ASC position sought by Plaintiff, kamn Assistant Special Agent in Charge (“ASAC”
field position. Id. (citihg Curran’s testimony at trial ifoussef)l Therefore, Defendant argues,
there is ample evidence from which the jury couwtalude that the ASC position would not have
been a “promotion” for Plaintiff, and that his rselection wasot an adverse employment action.
Id. at 5.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court firtsDefendant may introduce
evidence #trial in support ofDefendant’sargument that the denial of Youssef's selection for the
ASC position was not an adverse actidWhetherthe denial of Youssef's selection for the ASC
position constitutesn adverse actios a disputed element of Plaifis claim, and Defendant is
entitled to introduce evidence in support of its positidsly arguing thathis Court, as a matter of
law, should find that Defendant's denial of Plaintiff's application for mtmn constitutes an
adverse employment actjoRlaintiff has in effectequestedhat the Court issua partial summary
judgment decision Seel.ouzon v. Ford Motor C9.718 F.3d 556, 562 (6th Cir. 2013Buch a

request, however, is impropat this stageasmotions in limine may not be used to resolve factual

18 n support of this argumenDefendant cites declaration of Valee Parlave attached to
Defendant’'Opposition brief. Plaintiff disputes the appropriateness of the Parlalzeaten,
as well as the admissibilty of Parlave’s testimony at ti#&tePl.’'s Reply at 23. The Court
addresses each of these issues latéris Opinion in Partlll.C.4. For the reasons stated in Part
[11.C.4, the Court shall consider the Parlave declaration attached émdzeft’'s Opposition brief
for the purposes of deciding whetl2efendant may introduce evidence at trial to arguetbieat
denial of Youssef's selection for the ASC position was not an advetise ac
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disputes, which remains the “function of a motion for summary judgment, tevidccompanying
and crucial procedural safeguard<’& E Servs., Inc. v. Ashland In&39 F. Supp. 2d 316, 323
(D.D.C. 2008).

Furthermore Plaintiff does not put forward any arguments disputing Defendant’s
contention that the ASC position sought by Plaintiff and thel&®nit Chief position then held
by Plaintiff were the same level, with no difference in sala®gePl’s Replyat 56. Instead,
Plaintiff appears to rely oastatementnade in his initial motior-that Youssef “applied for a one
level promotion—but Plaintiff provides no evidence in support of that position. Accordingly,
there is a genuine dispute of material fact reggrttie adverse employment action, which must be
resolved by the jury. Defendant midngreforentroduce evidence at triad support of its argument
that the denial of Youssef's selection for the ASC position was not arsadaetion The Court
addresseghe admissibilty of specific evidence proffered by Defendant, namely iimess
testimony of Valerie Parlave, later in this Opinion,Piartlll.C.4.

2. As stated above, the Court shall limit testimony and evidence aboMMoussefs

prior EEO activities to a neutral statement that he was engaging in such activites
at the time of his nonselection for the ASC position, and that the FBI is not
permitted to take retaliatory action in response to those activities.

Plaintiff objects toany reference by Defendaat trial concerning the verdict against
Plaintiff in his prior Title VII action agast Defendant. Pl.’s Mot. at5. Plaintiff requests that the
Court not permit the parties to introduce any evidence as to the merits of aoyssfeYs other
Title VII proceedings, notwithstandingvidence introduced by Plaintiff concerning background
information of the origins of Plaintiff's original discrimination cfato establish the context from

which the present action arosiel. at 56. Plaintiff argues thaany evidencebeyond background

information would not be relevant to the current proceeding and would confuse the jury and result
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in undue prejudice.ld.at 6. Inresponse, Defendant argues that Plaintiff's proffered evidence m
make theYoussef Iverdict elevant in this caseciting Plaintiff's requesta introduce, as
background, limited evidence as to the meritsPliintiff's earler cases. Def.’s Opp'n at 6.
Defendant’s remaining arguments mirror those made by Defendant in itegora#fithis issue
when presented in Defendant’s motiold. at 67.

The Court addressed thparties’ arguments concerning the admissibilty of evidence
relating to Youssef's prior actiom its discussionof Defendant's Motionin Limine SeePart
A.2.a,supra Accordingy, for the reasons stated abptke Court finds it appropriate to limit
testimony and evidence about Youssef’'s prior EEO activity and any prior discriminatdsytose
neutral statement that he was engaging in such activity at the time ofsislectmn for the ASC
position, and that the FBI is not permitted to take retaliatory actionsspomse to that activity.
As noted, there is little reason for the parties to go into any discussigouskef’'s prior EEO
activity or to have a mini trial of whate alleged retaliatory acts were, as such information would
not be relevant to any issue in this caSeered. R. Evid. 401. The parties do not dispute that
Youssef was engaged in prior EEO activity, and Defendant does not intend to anysantlene
suggesting that Youssef did not engage in EEO activity in good faith. Plaim#rmitted to call
a witness, whether it be someone in authority at the FBI or otherwigestifg that Youssef can
pursue EEO activities, that he can be absent in order to pursue suclesctii that the FBI
cannot retaliate by taking negative actions against him. However, toalpvurther testimony
and evidence, by Plaintiff or Defendarsapout Youssef's prior EEO activity and prior
discriminatory acts woulebpen the door to a discussion that would be unhelpful to the jury and
would be more prejudicial than probativeéSeeFed. R. Evid. 403. Therefore, the parties are
precluded from introducing such evidence at trial.
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3. As stated above, Plaintiff may introducea redacted version of the Mother Jones’
article, with all parts redacted except for the titleand the two references to
Youssefs discrimination laws uit.

In Plaintiff's Motion in Limine Plantiff seeks to introduce a redacted version of the
“Mother Jonesarticle, pursuant to a proposed limiting instruction, stating thatuitye should
consider the evidence not for truth of the matters asserted thereintheutas (1) evidence of the
knowledge and awareness of certain witnesses that Plaintiff had engapget@ated activity, (2)
material evidence to judge the credibiity of withess testimony, and (3jbjgovidence of
pretext. Pl’s Mot. at 7.

The Court addressed the parties’ arguments concerning the admissibility “bfdtieer
Jones article, as well as the appropriate jury instruction, indiscussionof Defendant’s Motion
in Limine SeePartA.2.h.i,supra Accordingly, for the reasons discussed abdhe Court issued
a finding at the second pretrial conference that the entire atiglebe introduced, but everything
shall be redacted except for the title and the two references to Youssefmirtigom lawsuit.
As noted, the Court shall instruct the jury that the redacted portions daftidie are not relevant
to the claims aissue. Zarone and Jeanine Santa, the FBI official who showeMdtber Jones
article to Zarone, may testffyto the extent that their testimony is rduplicative, as to the
circumstances in which Zarone was shown the article. However, intordeguethat the article
was circulated around the FBI and seen by other FBI employees, Plaintifcatiud) a witness
who can testify to certain key facts regarding the article’s publicasanh as whether the article
was in fact available on the Sentinaldathe time frame that it was on the Sentinel, and (2) a
witness who can testify as to the key facts regarding the Sentinel'srgieipdécluding whether
all or most FBI employees look atthe Sentinel, whether Chase and ©akéd or were likely
to look, atthe Sentinel, who controls the Sentinel, and who puts articles on tirelSefhb date,
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Plaintiff has not identified such withess Accordingly, the Court shall set a date by which
Plaintiff must disclose such witnges). If Plaintiff does not disclose such witnéss by thedate
set by the CourtPlaintiff shall be precluded by the Court from making this argum8eePart
A.2.b.i, supra
C. ISSUESRAISED OVER THE COURSE OFBRIEFING

Over the course of briefinghe parties’Motions in Limine, the parties raised several new
issues not raised iheir initial motiors. Specifically, the parties raised new issues regarding (1)
the introduction of evidence that Fernandez, thevating chairperson of the LCB, “stacked” the
LCB with votihg members whom Fernandez knew were biased against Youssef; (2) the
introduction of testimony by Valerie Parlave concerning various issues related to jamsnati
FBI personnel, including the policies and procedures regarding such promotions3) ahd (
redaction of certain classified information included in Youssef's¥. The Court shall address
each issue in turn.

1. Plaintiff may not introduce evidence that Fernandez, the nowoting chairperson

of the LCB, deliberately “stacked” the LCB with voting members whom
Fernandez knew were biased against Youssef.

At the first pretrial conference on June 30, 2025, Plaintiff indicatet hihaseeks to
introduce at trial evidence that Armando Fernandez, thevotong chair of the LCB, had a
retaliatory bias againstoussef and “stacked” the LCB against Youssef by selecting voting LCB
members whom Fernandez knew were biased against Yo&sedrder dated July 2, 2015, ECF
No. [86], at 2. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks to present evidence that (1) Fernandeztkatthe

LCB members whom he selecte€hase, Castro, and Zarengvere biased against Youssef, and
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(2) Fernandez knew the identities of the applicants when he selected LG reelah. 1°

As to the first point, Plaintifftonceded in its supplemental briefing after the first pretrial
conference that he does not have any direct evidence that two of the threeesh@®BreyCastro
and Chasg® were prejudiced or biased against Youssef, and that Fernandez knew of any such
bias. SeePl.’s Supp. Pretrial BriefECF No. [88] at 1 Accordingly, the Court issued a finding
at the second pretrial conference on August 14, 2015 that Plaintiff cannot rafggeopening
statement that Fernandez deliberately “stacked” the LCB againsis&fou

As to the second point, the parties disdutet the first pretrial conferenceshether

Fernandez knew the identity of all of the applicants prior to selecting tBemi&nbersg! Order

19 Many of the arguments and factual proffers regarding the retaliatory figesvigere presented
for the first time to the Court at tliest pretrial conference odune 30, 2015.SeeOrder dated
July 2, 2015, ECF No. [86], atA During thatconference, Plaintiff argued that Castro’s bias
can be inferred from the fact that he was supervised by Fernandez whatiff Bbntends, had
a retaliatory bias against Yoeds|d. at 2. Plaintiff also argued that Castro’s bias can be
inferred from the fact that Youssef and Castro were friends and afledjsdussed Youssef’s
EEOactivities, but Castro denied knowledge of Youssef's EEO activities atiti@podd.
Plairtiff contends that Chase’s bias can be inferred from the fact thaadswpervised by
Fernandez and by the fact that Chase was present at a meeting during derniotasory
comment was alegedly madet by Chase about whistleblowers which Youssefpnéted as
being directed at himld. Youssef later fled a complaint about this derogatory commieht.
The parties’ Motionsin Limine contained no details as to the complaint process and outcome.
After the June 30, 2015 pretriabrdference, the Couidsued an @ler finding that the factual
proffers presented to the Court during the conference were insufficiestatdish that Castro
and Chase had animus towards Youssef, and that Fernandez knew of this animiectead se
these individuals to be LCBiembers out of his own retaliatory animusl. In its order, the
Court required Plaintiff to explain in his supplemental pretrial brieétive the information
outined by the Court wake extent of Plaintiff's evidentiary proffer and, if ntd,provide
additional detail about Plaintiff's evidentiary proffeld. at 23.

20 As the Courtobservedat the first pretrial conference, Plaintiff dorward sufficient evidence
to raise the possibility that the third voting member of the LCB, Zaronepiagd against
Youssef, due to the evidence relating to Zarone’s handwritten notes on Y®Z&S' PAR.
SeePart lll.A.2.b.i.

21 After the first pretrial conferenctehe Court ordered Defendant to explain the process by which
the applicéions for a new job posting areceived, verified, and approved, and by which an LCB
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dated July 2, 2015, ECF No. [86], aRl1 In its supplemental briefindpefendant contends that
the FBI policy at the time was such that the LCB chairperson would notdé#re identity of the
applicants until after he el the LCB voting menass. SeeDef.’s Supp. Pretrial Brief, ECF
No. [89], at 22. Plaintiff, howevergcontends that in this case, Fernandez knew of all the applicants
because all of the applicants, except for Youssef, told Fernandez thatetre applying for the
ASC posttim prior to Fernandez selecting the LCB membe3sePl.’s 2nd Supp. Pretrial Brief,
ECF No. P0], at 46. Upon review of the parties’ arguments, the Court issued a finding at the
second pretrial conference on August 14, 2015, that the rlacésthny evdence to demonstrate
that Fernandez knew that Youssef was an applicant for the ASC position Hecaasenot among
the applicants who told Fernandez in advance that they were applying. Accorthiegigourt
continuesto find that Plaintiff cannot argue in his opening statement that Fernandez knew the
identties of the applicants when he selected the LCB members.
2. Plaintiff may not introduce evidence that LCB members should have redid on
Plaintiffs *“totality of experience$ to prefer him over other cardidates who may
have had higher competency scores.
At the first pretrialconference, Plaintiff raisealnewissue relating to Fernandez's allegedly

biased actions regarding the LCB proceSeeOrder dated July 2, 2015, ECF N86], at 3.

Plaintiff arguedthat Fernandez did not properly instruct the LCB members as to the cdmsitera

chair isselected, an LCB chair seletite LCB voting members, and the LCB chair is made
aware of the applicantsOrder dated July 2, 2015, ECF No. [86], afBfendant’s explanation
was tofocus on the specific timing of all of these actions and the divisions &Bthand/or
individuals involved in each actiorid. The Court further ordereDefendanto indicate
whether this processas followed by Fernandez fdne LCB atissue in this case and proffer
evidence indicating athat point Fernandez would have learned that Youssefwas a candidate
and whether Fernandeelected the members of the LCB prior to or after learning that
information. Id. The Court also oeted Plaintiff, in hisresponseto indicate whether he has
evidence tht would undermine the evidenpeoffered ly Defendant as to these issudd.
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that they should give to the *totalty of [each candidate’s] experient@.’at 4. Specifically,
Plaintiff allegedthat Fernandez did not properly instruct the LCB that they coulthisstechnical
“totality of experience” approachto “rank lowerrated candidates ahead of highated
candidates.” Id. (citing Pl’s Trial Ex. 17, at-B). After the first pretrial conference, the Court
ordered Plaintiff to indicate in supplemental briefing what evidence he ®emgfto show that
Fernandez did not properly instruct the LCB members that they could use thiy “titdeach
candidate’s] experience” to rank the lowated candidates over higheited candidatesld. The
Court specifically ordered Plaintiff to also indicate whether the L@&®bers were provided any
information about how they were to treat the “totality of experience” coasinierand whether
the “totality of experience” consideration was taken mteount by the LCB at issudd. The
Court also ordered Defendant to proffer any evidence or arguments that would undiemine
evidence proffered by Plaintiffid.

In response to the Court’s ord®efendant indicatedor the first time,thatunder tle LCB
procedures in place at the time of Youssef'sselection there were only two situations in which
the “totality of experiencefactor could be consideredDef.’s 2nd Supp. Pretrial Briefing, ECF
No. [91], at 4. The parties agree that neither bkse two situations would have applied in
Plaintiff's case. According to Defendant’'s supplemental briefing, thedt situatior—which
would have allowed the LCB to consider applicant’s “totality of experience”to “rank lower
rated candidates ahead dagherrated candidates™did not go into effect untiafter2009 Id. at
4n.4. The third application of “totalty of experience” is the applicatiwat Plaintiff argues should
have been applied by the LCB in evaluating Youssef's application against Papglication.
At the second pretrial conference, Plaintiff questioned tharacygof Defendant’s representations
that the third “totality of experience” application was not part of thB p@licy in 2009 and argued
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that Plaintiff wasunfairly prejudiced by Defendant's new argument, as it was a departure from
Defendant’s previousepresentations about the LCB policies in 2082eOrder dated August 14,
2015, ECF No. [92], at 2. For this reason, the Court ordered that Defendant prbdioceiments
demonstrating which “totality of experience” applications were part oL @# poicies in 2009

and when the LCB policies changed to include the third application of “totality ofiexpe.” Id.

On October 21, 2015, Defendant filed its supplemental ,bwdich attachedseveral
documents concerning the dates when the “totality of rexpmee” polcy went into effectSee
Def.’s Sup. Mem. ECF No. [101]. In its brief, Defendant reiterated its argumentsailieie
supplemental briefghat the third application of the “totality okgerience”approachdid not go
into effect until Februay 2010, and therefore was not in use in October 2009, the time of the LCB
at issue in this casdd. at 34. Defendant’s brief attached an email announcing the February 17,
2010 launchof the “next phase of ASAPP, the Automated Special Agent Promotiogra,”
which involved certain changes to the LCB procédsat 4, Ex. 5at 1. The email attaches Chapter
7 of the ASAPP Training Guide, which reflects the new totality of espee applicatian Id.
Defendant argues that the attachment of Chapieth®e February 17, 2010 email is evidence that
the new polcy went into effechiFebruary 2010, and thus, was not in effect at the time of

Youssef's norselection in October 20095 eeid. 22

22 Defendant also notes that the launch date of these LCB changes wasewrifiy Parlave in her
July 16,2015 declaration attached to an earlier supplemental BeeDef.’s Sup. Mem.ECF No.
[101] at 4 (ctting Parlave Decl., ECF No. [8%], (“The ASAPP Training Guide, Chapter 7,
Conducting a Local Career Board, was created and provided to FBI FigdshsOdnd Headquarters
Division in approximately February 2010.”)). Plaintiff disputes the appropriateness &éridant’s
reliance on the Parlave declaration, and arglasas Rule 37(c)(1) requires exclusion of the Parlave
declaration and any argument that Chapter 7 did not apply in October 2009, becdissthee s
are untimely. SeePl.’s Supp. Mem., ECF No. [97], at5. The Court addresses Plaintifiisrents

on these issues later in this Opinion, in Part IlI.C.4.

55



In responsePR laintiff contends thaDefendantpy changing itgosition as to the date when
this policy went into effect, i# effect introducing new evidence andeissentially attempting to
unilaterally reopen discoverySeePl.’s Supp. Mem ECF No. [97], at-2. Plaintiff also argues
that hewould be substantially prejudiced by Defendant’s change of position, alififf has
shaped drial strategy in reliare on Defendant’s representation concerning the effective date of
the policy concerning the third application of “totalty of experience” polisydescribed in
Chapter 7. 1d. at 8. Plaintiff maintains that he conducted extensive discovery, including the
deposition ofDouglasPrice, duringwhich Plaintiff questionedPrice concerning the policies and
procedures governing LCBs and hiring within El. Id. at 3. Plaintiff contendsthat hewould
be required to depose all witnesses based on this new information, BCcovetdy expenses a
second time, and bring the posture of this matter back to where it stood wibkmisilosure s
were made.ld.

Upon consideration of the parties’ arguments, the Court finds that Plaimaff not
introduce evidence that LCB members should have relied on Plaintiffalitjtobf experiences”
to prefer him over other candidates who may have had higher competerey #avould appear
from thedocuments produced by Defendant that the policy allowing LCB members to consider an
applicant's *totalty of experiencesto rank lowefrated candidates ahead of highaeted
candidatesvent into effectin February 201Gndwas not in place at the time of Youssef's non
selectionin October 2009 SeeDef.’s Sup. Mem.ECF No. [101] at Exhibits -5. Plaintiff has
not pointed to any evidence disputing this fack] instead argudbat theCourt shouldsimply
disregard theewfacts that have come to lighSeePl.’s Supp. Mem ECF No. [97], at2. The
Court disagrees.The Courtcannotallow Plantiff to introduce evidence at tristhat the “totality
of experience” policy was in effect at the timeYoussef's norselectim, when in fact, it was
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not.

Furthermore, itis not clear to the Court the extent to which Plaintiff conducted extensive
discovery on this issue. Plaintiff cites the stdgosition of Douglas Price, wherein Plaintiff asks
Price whether he was “awarkamny changes to the rules that were in effect for this career board
selection process for GEbs, were there any changes that occurred between October 2009 and
August 26, 2011.” SeePl.’s Supp. Mem ECF No. [97], Exhibit 2 (“Price Deposition”), at 10.
Price respondsatherequivocally, that “in terms of the process, the only changes would have been
the computerization as more of the process was done online, but in terhes mflidcies and
procedures, not much has changdd.” Neither Plaintiff's aestion, nolPrices response, address
the effective date of the “totality of experience” policy at issue helaintiff also has given no
indication he developd this issue through additional questioning at the deposition of Prieg¢, or
any other depdn.

The Court further notes that “totality of experience” issue was raisekigifPat the first
pretrial conference, as part of Plaintiff's argument thatFernandez did not properly instruct the
LCB members as to the consideration that they should give to the totaliyaai fandidate’s]
experience. The *totalty of experience” issue was not raised in @#rgr's Motion in Limine,
the Joint Pretrial Statement, or Plaintiff's Witness Report, areteived minimal attention at the
summary ydgment stageSeeYoussef,I19 F. Supp. 3d at 190 n.9. Moreover, as the Court noted
in Youssef,leven if the “totalty of experience” policy was in effect at theetiof Youssef's non
selection, it would appear that the LCB would not have appled the appmatiussef in the
instant caseld. The LCB Chairperson Training presentatiovhich the parties relied on during
discovery,states thathe LCB may consider the “totality of experience” whete “ratirgs of the
top ranked candidatesire closeand a review of the candidatgspplication forms] indicate a
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candidate with lower scores mayrbere suitable for the position.Id. In the instant cas&,oussef
was rated last of the four candidates and thus was not a “top ranked candigibke”te benefit
from such an approach.

Accordingly, the Court finds thaPlaintiff may not introduce esglence that LCB members
shoud have relied on Plaintiff's “totality of>geriences” to prefer him over other candidates who
may have had higher competency scofBserefore, any prejudice faced by Defendah aesult
of Plaintiff raising the issudate in the litigation is ameliorated because the correct policies and
procedures at the time of the selection will be used at trial. ®be @lso noteshat Plaintiff is
not precluded from introducing evidencencerningPlaintiff's experiencesand putting forth
arguments as to why he was the top candidate for the ASC posteePart A.1.supra Finally,
the Courtagrees that Plaintiff has been prejudiced by Deferslamistake. Therefore, as stated
in Partlll.C.4, in order to address any prejudicecéd by Plaintiff,the Courtshall allow Plaintiff
the opportunity talepose ParlaveSeePart I11.C.4

3. The Court assumes that the parties have resolved any remaining issuesatéy to
the redacted classified information in Youssefs FER54.

In footnote 3 of Defendant’s Motiom Limine, Defendant indicated that it had submitted
jury instructions relating to the redactionatdissifiedinformation included in Youssef's FB54.
SeeDef.’s Mot. at 5n.3. Specificaly, Defendant argued thahfffashould not be permitted to
allege that certain redactions were retaliatohy. Plaintiff indicated in his opposition brief that
he opposed the jury instructions proposed by Defendant. Pl’s Opp’n at 23. Duringt e fiia |
conference, D&ndant indicated that the FBI was reviewing the informatiwat Plaintiff seeks to
have unedacted from his F®54 application for the ASC position, and that Defendant anticipated

that this review would be completed by July 10, 208eeOrder dated Jul2, 2015, ECF No.
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[86], at 8. In its supplemental briefing filed on July 16, 2015, Defendant indicatetheéhaview
process had been completed, and that the FBI agreedto unredact some, baf tio¢ pkeviously
redacted portions.  Def.’s Suppreftial Brief, ECF No. 89, at 12. At the second pretrial
conference, the parties indicated that the Government had provided Plaiftifi méw version of
his FD-954 application, in which addiional previouslassified information had been -un
redactel. Order dated August 14, 2015, ECF Nef|[ at 4. The parties indicated th&tlaintiff
was reviewing the new version, atiwatthe partieshopedto resolve amongst themselves any
remaining disputes about the redactions and how the redacted information shoulsiebhtegr®
the jury. Id. In the Court’s order dated August 14, 2015, the Court ordered Plaintiff to indicate in
his supplemental briefing whether any issues remain to be resolved rédatthg redacted
classified information in Plaintiff+D-954. Id. Plaintiff's supplemental briefing filed with the
Court on September 21, 2015 did not address the issue of the classified infigraatl the parties
have not submitted any other fiings to update the Court on the status of the detizsifed
information. Therefore the Court assumes that this issue is resolved.

4. The Court shall not strike the evidence setoutin thBarlave declarations, and the

Court shall permit Parlave to testify at trial. However, Plaintiff must have an
opportunity to depose Parlaveon the issues addressed in her declarations

During pretrial briefing, the parties on several occasions have disputed tbprapgness
of Defendant’'s submission of declarations authored by Parlave on certain iskled te@
promotins of FBI personnel, and the policies and procedures refatisgch promotions. The
first Parlavedeclaration attached to Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion Limine,
provides informationconcerningthe typical career progression for someaméhe Unit Chief
position held by Youssef, as well as information concerning the ASC position sought by Youssef
SeeParlave Decl(Apr. 2, 2015), ECF No. [81]. The second Parlave declaration, attached to
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Defendant's Supplemental Pretrial Brighovdes information concerning the LCB selection
process in 2009, changes in 2004 to the selection process regarding interviewssledtien
process concerning th&SC position at issue on October 23, 20@d the effective date of the
“totality of experience” policy disputed by the parti€sedParlave Decl(July 16, 2015)ECF No.
[89-1]. The third Parlave declaration attached to Defendant’'s Second Supple Rwsitéll Brief,
provides additional information concerning the “totalty of experience’cyadliiscussed in
Parlave’s second declaratioseeParlave Decl(July 21 2015), ECF No. [4-1].

Plantiff argues thatunder Rule 37(c)(1),the Court should strike all threBarlave
declaratios from the recordand exclude any testimony by Parletetrial becauséefendant
failed to list Parlave on its Rule 26 disclosures, and because Defemtiardly disclosedhe
information contained ithe Parlave declarationsSeePl.’s Supp. Mem., ECF No. [97ht 47.
According to Rule 37(c)(1)f fa party fails to provide information or identify a witness as required
by Rule 26(a) or (e), the party is not allowed to use that information or wimespply evidence
on a motion, at a hearing, or at a trial, unless the failure wasatialst justiied or is harmless.”

Id. According to Plaintiff, Defendant isnproperly attemptingto place facts on the record that
were notpresentedluring discovery andwere not asserted lyefendant in a Rule 26 statement.
Id. at 2. Plaintiff contends that Defgant has been on notice since Plaintiff initiated this action in
2011 that the policies and procedures governing career boards and the FBI's pronaatimres
are a major issue in this casd.at 1. Therefore, argues Plaintfefendant should not be allowed
to introduce new witnesses and documents at this stage in the ltigatioat 2.

Defendant argues that Defendant formally supplemented its initial discdoswieclude
Parlave in a February 25, 2015 letter to Plaiatiftounsel, the deadine set for supplemental
disclosures by th€ourt SeeDef's Responses, ECF No. [77], at 4. According to Defendant,
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Parlave was identified in numerous documents produced to Plaintiff, anddaafs counsel
further disclosed Parlave in writing to Plaintiff's counsel in January 28&%5ing: “The FBI will
substitute Valerie Parlave, Executive Assistant Director of the HumaruiResdranch, who is
based in Washington, DC and testifiedYinussef,lfor Douglas Price, whom | believe is now in
Phoenix.” Id. Accordingly, Defendant argue® laintiff has been welhware of Parlave for years,
andthere will be no surprise or prejudice from her testimomynally, Defendant contends that
Local Rule 16.5(b)(5) expressly provides that “[n]Jo objection shall be entertmireewitness or
to testimony on the ground that the withess or testimony was disclosed fastthim@rin a party's
Pretrial Statement . . . .Id.

Upon review of the parties’ arguments, the Court concludesRtilat37 does not require
the Court to strike thevidence setout in thHearlave declarations proffered by Defendais. the
Court noted at the second pretrial conference, Defendant formaly suppldmienteitial
disclosurespursuant to Court order under IR26(e). Furthermore Plaintiff has had ample notice
that Parlave is an important witness in this caRarlave testifiedn the Youssef trial—a case
involving the same parties, same Plaintiff’'s counsel, and sifelgal claims. Id. Parlave was
also identified in numerous documents produced to Plaintiff. ThereRleintiff cannot argue
that Defendant has improperly attempted to introduce a new witness atdhisnstiae litigation.

Furthermore, pursuant to Defendant's Rule 26(e) disclosur®gfendant substituted
Parlave foPrice who Plaintiff had already deposed testify onthe same issue as Price, namely
the policies and procedures within the FBeeDef.’s Responses, ECF No. [#7], at4. Therefore,
to the extenthat Parlave wouldestify onthe same issuas Price Plaintiff would suffer no
prejudice. The Court notes, however, that Plaintiff’s trial theories concernind-Bi& policies
and procedures have evolved over the course of pretrial briefing. Spigcifielintiff rased a
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new issue at the first pretrial conference concerangleged biasy Fernandeznamely that he
failed to appropriately instructhe LCB memberson their abilty to consider an applicant’s
“totality of experience.” In respons@efendant produceBarlavedeclarations dateduly 16, 2015
and July 21, 2015which containinformation regarding LCB policies, such as the consideration
of an apptant’s “totalty of experiencé. SeeParlave Decl(July 16, 2015), ECF No. [8H;
Parlave Decl(July 21,2015), ECF No. [911].22 The Court acknowledges that the information
concerning theeffective date of the “totality of experiencgblicy is new o Plaintiff, however,
the Court also observes that the issue has now dirgstasuch that the parties know which policy
was in effect at the time of Yous&ehonselection in October 2009. Accordingly, the Court
cannot allow Plaintiff to introduce evidence at trial that the “tgtadif experience” policy was in
effect at theitne of Youssef's noselection,when in fact, it was not.To ameliorate any harm to
Plaintiff, the Court shall allow Plaintiff the opportunity to deposda®aron any issueaddressed
in her declarations.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1).

Finally, Plaintif raises an objectioio Defendant’s introduction of tesibny by Parlave
on account that Parlave would be providing expert testinooiyide of her personal knowledge,
and that Defendarttas not filed the necessary report to allow for expert testimdgePl.’s
Objections, ECF No. [#3], at 2. In respase, Defendant contends tiRrlave’s testimony will

be based entirely on her personal knowledge, and therefore admissible under RGle elBdf.’'s

23The Court observes that some of the information contained in the Parlavetieslagpear
to have already been known, or at minimavailable to, Plaintiff. As an examplédetkey
points in Parlave’april 2, 2015 declaratiorwontainsalary information for the ASC positien
information thatvas available and presumably knowrPaintiff—and statements supporting
theidea that the AS@osition is not the next logical step in the career progression for someone
in Youssef’'s posttior-an idea put forward bl laintiff’'s witness, Curran, i'Youssef.l See
Parlave Decl. (Apr. 2, 2015), ECF No. {8]L
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Responses, ECF No. F71, at 45.

It appears tohe Court that Defendahias not provided evidence indicating that Parlave
would have personal knowledgeoncerningtwo issues to which Parlave may testify. First,
Parlave’s July 16, 2015 declaration contains information concerning policy chende&3B
interview procedured 2004 that predateher positionsin the FBI's human resources division
described in her declaratiorSeeParlave Decl(July 16, 2015), ECF No. [8. However, @ a
practical matter, it ppears to the @urt thather testimony abouhe policies in effect at the time
of the LCB proceeding in 200wvould necessarily encompass the procedures that were changed in
2004. Second, Defendant has indicated that it intends to introduce testimony byeParla
concerningthe typical career progreisn for an FBI agentserving as aJnit Chief, as well as
testimony to the effect that the denial of a lateral Assistant Section Q@asfion would not
negatively impact the reputation of an FBI agent that was serving as @hilfit Joint Pretrial
Statement at 21. However, it is not clear to the Court that Parlaye have persondnowledge
concerning theeissues under Rule 701 Accordingly, the Court shall require Defendant to provide
the Court witha proffer of evidencedemonstratingthe basis of Parlave’sersonal knowledge
regardingthe typical career progrsisn foran FBI agent serving as a Unit Chief as weltlas
effect that the denial of a lateral Assistant Section Chief gositiould have on the reputation of
an FBI agent that was serving as a Unit Chief.

Finally, as a related matter, Defendmnicatesin the partiesjoint pretrial statement that
Defendantalso intends to calMichael Heimbach, the former Assistant Director of the
Counterterrorism Division, to provide testimonyabout the FBI's promotional policies and
practices for special ages, including that the denial of a lateral ASC position would not negatively
impact the reputation or restrict the career path of an FBI agent thaewasg as a Unit Chief.
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SeeJoint Pretrial Statement, ECF No. [77], at 2Rowever, it is not cleato the Court that
Heimbach would have personal knowledge concerning these issues under Rule 70hrelberef
the extent that Defendant still intends to call Heimbach as a witogg®vide norduplicative
testimony regarding these issues, Defendaniléharovide the Court with a proffer of evidan
demonstrating the basis Bfeimbach’s personal knowledge regarding these issues.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonghe Court shall GRANTIN-PART, DENY-IN-PART
Defendant’s [79] Motionin Limine and GRANT-IN-PART, DENY-IN-PART Plaintiff's [80]
Motion in Liming and GRANTFIN-PART, DENY-IN-PART the objections made by the parties
to their Joint Pretrial Statement.

The Courtnotesthatsome of the partiedbjections madeto their Joint Pretrial Statement
have not beeaddressed by thi®pinion. The Court anticipates resolving many of these remaining
objections at the pretrial conference scheduled for November 13, 2B&SCourt also anticipates
discussing Defendant’s deposition designation of Armamaoadhdez, as well as Plaintiff's [100]
Motion for Order Issuing Trial Subpoenas.

Finally, the Courtobserveghat certain issues remain unresolved and require further action
by the parties

e Plaintiff shall have the opportunity to depose Parlave on the issues addressed in
her declarations

e Plaintiff shall provide the Court with additionalinformation indicating the
relevant community for evaluating Youssef's reputation, as well agutly of
Youssef's reputation prior to his ngelection.

e Plaintiff shall discloseby a date set by the Court thvitnesswho Plaintiff intends
to testify regarding(1) theMother Jonesurticle’s publication, such ashether the
article was in fact available on the Sentinel and the time frame that énathe
Sentinel, ad (2) the Sentinel's readership, including whether all or most FBI

64



employees look at the Sentinel, whether Chase and Castro,lcokere likely
to look, at the Sentinel, who controls the Sentinel, and who puts articles on the
Sentinel

e Defendantshall provide the Court with a proffer of evidence demonstrating the
basis of Parlave’s personal knowledge regarthegtypical career progression for
an FBI agent serving as a Unit Chief aswell as the effectthat tla¢ deailateral
Assistant Section Chief position would have on the reputation of an FBI agent tha
was serving as a Unit Chief

e To the extent that Defendant intends to call Heimbach as a withess tie pnov
duplicative testimony regarding the aforementioned issues, Defendant should als
provide the Court with a proffer of evidence demonstrating the basis of
Heimbach’s personal knowledge regarding these issues.

An appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

Dated: Novembed3, 2015
/s/

COLLEEN KOLLAR -KOTELLY
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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